

#### MARKKU SUMANEN

# Special Features of Coronary Heart Disease among Working-aged Patients

#### **ACADEMIC DISSERTATION**

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Tampere, for public discussion in the small auditorium of Building K, Medical School of the University of Tampere, Teiskontie 35, Tampere, on June 21st, 2005, at 12 o'clock.

Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 1087

#### **ACADEMIC DISSERTATION**

University of Tampere, Medical School Hospital District of Pirkanmaa, Department of General Practice Kangasala Health Centre Finland

**Supervised by** Professor Kari Mattila University of Tampere

Reviewed by
Docent Raimo Kettunen
University of Kuopio
Docent Antti Reunanen
University of Helsinki

Distribution
Bookshop TAJU
P.O. Box 617
33014 University of Tampere
Finland

Cover design by Juha Siro

Printed dissertation Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 1087 ISBN 951-44-6322-6 ISSN 1455-1616 Tel. +358 3 3551 6055 Fax +358 3 3551 7685 taju@uta.fi www.uta.fi/taju http://granum.uta.fi

Electronic dissertation Acta Electronica Universitatis Tamperensis 445 ISBN 951-44-6323-4 ISSN 1456-954X http://acta.uta.fi

Tampereen Yliopistopaino Oy – Juvenes Print Tampere 2005

To Kirsi,

Matias, Merika and Aleksi

# 1 SUMMARY

The aim of this study was to assess special features of coronary heart disease (CHD) among working-aged patients. First a study was made of the diagnostics of CHD in primary health care, focusing on exercise tests made by trained general practitioners. This section was based on all exercise tests carried out at Kangasala health care centre during the years 1998–2000. To assess the clinical outcome of the test in the working-aged population, all patients under the age of 60 years were followed up for two years after the test.

The other part of the study was based on The Health and Social Support study (HeSSup), a prospective etiological follow-up on the psychosocial health of the Finnish working-aged population involving a random sample of 52 739 individuals drawn from the Finnish Population Register in four age groups: 20–24, 30–34, 40–44, and 50–54. The survey was carried out by postal questionnaire in autumn 1998. Forms were returned by 21 101 individuals, a response rate of 40.0%. Since coronary heart disease is nowadays rare among young age groups, only the age groups 30–34, 40–44, and 50–54 (N=15 477, a response rate of 38.9%) were included in the analyses. Four age- and sexmatched controls for comparison were selected for every patient.

The exercise test is a useful diagnostic tool in general practice. Throughout the two years 348 patients were followed after the exercise test. Of patients with equivocal findings, 4.0% in the test were diagnosed as suffering from CHD during the follow-up period. One person with a negative finding died of a heart infarction. The specificity of the test was 87% and sensitivity 81%, when the diagnosis of CHD after the two years' follow-up period was used as gold standard. The positive predictive value was 38% and the negative 98%. A negative finding in an exercise test conducted by trained GPs for working-aged people in primary health care appears to be quite valid. Among working-aged patients suspected of coronary heart disease the exercise test may predict the clinical outcome quite well in general practice.

The HeSSup data covered 319 patients who reported that a doctor had told them they were suffering from CHD: 185 patients who had not experienced heart infarction (55.1% men) and 134 who had (78.4% men). CHD patients, despite having survived a life-threatening clinical event, appear to have maintained adverse behaviours such as smoking and being obese more often than the control population, which would imply that secondary prevention of the disease is disappointing. One in six CHD patients neglected to collect their medicines from pharmacies and neglected to visit doctors due to high prices. Neglect of treatment was most frequent among those not working. Working-aged coronary heart disease patients seem to be depressed, sleep poorly, and suffer from

daytime sleepiness more than the control population. CHD patients have also experienced significantly more childhood adversities than other people, and many of the adversities appear to be associated with coronary heart disease. Among working-aged CHD patients both the importance of sex life and interest in sex tended to decrease as a result of infarction in both genders.

Coronary heart disease among working-aged patients is a complex problem. Many aspects of the subject warrant attention in primary health care in order to improve the diagnostics of CHD, the well-being of patients and secondary prevention of the disease, and to ensure good commitment to the treatment of working-aged patients.

# 2 TIIVISTELMÄ

Tutkimuksen tarkoituksena oli arvioida sepelvaltimotaudin erityispiirteitä työikäisessä väestössä. Aluksi tutkittiin sepelvaltimotaudin diagnostiikkaa perusterveydenhuollossa keskittyen erityisesti koulutettujen yleislääkärien tekemiin kliinisiin rasituskokeisiin. Tämä osa perustui kaikkiin Kangasalan terveyskeskuksessa vuosina 1998–2000 tehtyihin kliinisiin rasituskokeisiin. Rasituskokeen kliinistä merkitystä arvioitaessa kaikkia alle 60-vuotiaita potilaita seurattiin kahden vuoden ajan kokeen jälkeen.

Toinen osa tutkimuksesta keskittyi HeSSup -aineistoon (The Health and Social Support study). HeSSup on suomalaisen työikäisen väestön psykososiaalista terveydentilaa ja selviytymistä koskeva seurantatutkimus. Tutkimukseen valittiin iän mukaan ositetulla satunnaisotannalla 52 739 suomalaista. Tutkittavat sijoittuivat tasaisesti ikäluokkiin 20–24, 30–34, 40–44 ja 50–54. Tutkimusprojektin ensimmäinen postikysely tehtiin syksyllä 1998. Kysymyslomakkeen palautti 21 101 henkilöä. Vastausosuus oli 40 %. Koska sepelvaltimotauti on nykyisin harvinainen nuorissa ikäluokissa, analyyseihin otettiin mukaan vain ikäluokat 30–34, 40–44 ja 50–54 (N=15 477, vastausosuus 39 %). Jokaiselle sepelvaltimotautipotilaalle valittiin neljä iän ja sukupuolen suhteen kaltaistettua verrokkia.

Terveyskeskuksessa tehty kliininen rasituskoe osoittautui hyödylliseksi diagnostiseksi tutkimukseksi. Yhteensä 348 potilasta seurattiin koko kahden vuoden ajan kliinisen rasituskokeen jälkeen. Vain 1,8 %:lla niistä, joilla koe oli tulkittu negatiiviseksi ja 4,0 %:lla niistä, joiden koetulos oli epävarma, diagnosoitiin sepelvaltimotauti seuranta-aikana. Yksi negatiivisen koetuloksen saanut kuoli sydäninfarktiin seuranta-aikana. Kliinisen rasituskokeen spesifisyys oli 87 % ja sensitiivisyys 81 %, kun kultaisena standardina pidettiin sepelvaltimotautidiagnoosia kahden vuoden seuranta-ajan jälkeen. Kokeen positiivinen ennustearvo oli 38 % ja negatiivinen 98 %. Negatiivinen löydös kliinisessä rasituskokeessa vaikuttaa olevan luotettava tässä pienen sepelvaltimotautiprevalenssin aineistossa. Kliinisellä rasituskokeella voi ennustaa sepelvaltimotaudin ilmentymistä työikäisessä väestössä.

HeSSup -aineistossa oli 319 potilasta, jotka kertoivat lääkärin sanoneen heidän sairastavan sepelvaltimotautia: 185 potilasta (miehiä 55,1 %), jotka eivät olleet sairastaneet sydäninfarktia ja 134, jotka olivat sairastaneet sydäninfarktin (miehiä 78,4 %). Siitä huolimatta, että heillä oli todettu henkeä uhkaava sairaus, he olivat jatkaneet haitallisia elämäntapoja, kuten tupakointia ja olivat ylipainoisia useammin kuin kontrolliväestö, mikä kuvasti sitä, että sepelvaltimotaudin sekundaaripreventio on epäonnistunut. Joka kuudes sepelvaltimotautipotilas oli viimeksi kuluneen vuoden aikana laiminlyönyt reseptilääkkeiden

hakemista apteekista ja lääkärissäkäyntejä korkeiden hintojen vuoksi. Suurinta laiminlyönti oli työelämän ulkopuolella olevilla. Työikäiset sepelvaltimotautipotilaat ovat usein masentuneita, nukkuvat huonosti ja potevat päiväaikaista väsymystä enemmän kuin kontrolliväestö. Sepelvaltimotautipotilaat olivat myös kokeneet enemmän lapsuudenaikaisia epämiellyttäviä tapahtumia kuin muu väestö, ja monet näistä tapahtumista liittyivät tilastollisesti merkitsevästi sepelvaltimotautiin. Työikäisillä sepelvaltimotautipotilailla sukupuolielämän merkitys näytti vähenevän sydäninfarktin seurauksena molemmilla sukupuolilla.

Työikäisten sepelvaltimotauti on monimuotoinen ongelma. Perusterveydenhuollossa on kiinnitettävä huomiota taudin primaaripreventioon ja varhaisdiagnostiikkaan ja sekundaaripreventioon sekä potilaiden hyvinvointiin ja hyvään hoitoon sitoutumiseen.

# **CONTENTS**

1	SUMMARY	5
2	TIIVISTELMÄ	7
3	ABBREVIATIONS	11
4	LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS	13
5	INTRODUCTION	15
6	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON CORONARY HEART DISEASE AMONG THE WORKING-AGED POPULATION 6.1 Epidemiology	
	6.2 Risk factors	
	6.2.1 High cholesterol	
	6.2.2 Hypertension	
	6.2.3 Smoking	
	6.2.4 High blood glucose	
	6.2.5 Obesity	
	6.2.7 Poor sleep	
	6.2.8 Life events	
	6.2.9 Depression and other psychological factors	
	6.3 Symptoms	
	6.3.1 Palpitations	23
	6.3.2 Depression	
	6.3.3 Sleep disorders	
	6.3.4 Sexual problems	
	6.4 Quality of life	25
	6.5 Diagnostics	25
	6.5.1 Screening	
	6.5.2 Exercise test	
	6.6 Primary prevention	
	6.7 Secondary prevention and treatment	
	6.8 Use of health services	30
7	AIMS OF THE STUDY	31

8	MATERIAL AND METHODS	32
	8.1 Health centre patients at Kangasala	32
	8.2 The Health and Social Support Study	33
	8.2.1 Study design	33
	8.2.2 Study population	
	8.3 Analyses of the exercise test	35
	8.4 Analyses of the Health and Social Support Study	36
9	RESULTS	38
	9.1 Feasibility of exercise tests in primary health care (I)	38
	9.2 Diagnostic value of the exercise test in primary health care (II)	38
	9.3 Occurrence of risk factors (III)	39
	9.4 Symptoms and complaints (IV)	40
	9.5 Childhood adversities (V)	42
	9.6 Sex life issues (VI)	44
	9.7 Commitment to treatment (VII)	46
10	DISCUSSION	48
	10.1 Exercise tests	
	10.1.1 Feasibility of exercise tests	48
	10.1.2 Strengths and weaknesses	48
	10.1.3 Comparison with previous studies	
	10.2 The HeSSup data	
	10.2.1 Data collection	
	10.2.2 Strengths and weaknesses	
	10.3 Implications for clinical practice	
11	CONCLUSIONS	55
12	ACKOWLEDGEMENTS	56
13	REFERENCES	59
14	APPENDICES	
	14.1 I Kliinisiä rasituskokeita koskevat tiedot	
	14.2 II HeSSun questionnaire (in Finnish)	78

# **3 ABBREVIATIONS**

AMI acute myocardial infarction

AP angina pectoris

BMI body mass index

BP blood pressure

CAD coronary artery disease

CHD coronary heart disease

CSS Canadian Cardiovascular Society

CVD cardiovascular disease

CI confidence intervals

DM diabetes mellitus

ECG electrocardiography

GP general practitioner

HbA1C glycosylated hemoglobin

HDL high-density lipoprotein

HeSSup Health and Social Support

LDL low-density lipoprotein

MET metabolic equivalent unit

OR odds ratio

# 4 LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

This dissertation is based on the following seven original studies, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals I-VII.

- I Sumanen M. Kliininen rasituskoe terveyskeskuksen omana toimintana. Kunnallislääkäri 2000;15(7):39–44.
- II Sumanen M, Jussila M, Mattila K. Exercise treadmill test may predict clinical outcome among working-aged patients suspected of coronary heart disease in general practice. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care 2005;23(1):47–51.
- III Sumanen M, Koskenvuo M, Immonen-Räihä P, Suominen S, Sundell J, Mattila K. Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease is disappointing among patients of working age. Family Practice 2004;21(3):303–305.
- IV Sumanen M, Suominen S, Koskenvuo M, Sillanmäki L, Mattila K. Occurrence of symptoms and depressive mood among working-aged coronary heart disease patients. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes 2004; 2:60.
- V Sumanen M, Koskenvuo M, Sillanmäki L, Mattila K. Childhood adversities experienced by working-aged coronary heart disease patients. Journal of Psychosomatic Research (In press).
- VI Sumanen M, Ojanlatva A, Koskenvuo M, Mattila K. GPs should discuss sex life issues with coronary heart patients. Submitted for publication.
- VII Sumanen M, Koskenvuo M, Rautava P, Suominen S, Sundell J, Mattila K. Työikäisten sepelvaltimotautipotilaiden terveyspalvelujen käyttö. Sosiaalilääketieteellinen Aikakauslehti 2004;41(2):108–117.

The articles are reproduced in this thesis with the permission of the copyright holders.

In addition, this thesis contains unpublished data.

# **5 INTRODUCTION**

Atherosclerotic diseases constitute an increasing health problem worldwide, and the evolution of this disease is obviously a legacy of changes in our lifestyle, even though heredity has a role to play, and our environment seriously influences the impact of heredity upon the problem (Shepherd 1997). Coronary heart disease (CHD) is the major cause of death world-wide (Murray and Lopez 1997, The World Health Report 1999). Patients with established CHD are at increased risk of subsequent vascular events such as death, myocardial infarction and stroke (Moher et al. 1997). In a study concerning heart failure in eastern Finland, CHD or hypertension was evident in 80% of cases (Remes et al. 1992). The long-term care of patients with coronary disease should be attributed the same status as that of patients with asthma and diabetes (Bethell 1998). The secondary prevention of all cardiovascular disease merits the same systematic approach as we adopt to other chronic diseases such as diabetes (Jolly et al. 1999).

CHD also represents a significant socio-economic burden for all populations (Foxton 2003). In Finland CHD it accounted for 42.7% of all deaths in 2001. Among working-aged people during the same year CHD was the leading cause of death among men, comprising 18% of all cases, whereas among women it was number five in the same list (7% of cases) (Statistics Finland 2001). We also know that of those working-aged patients not pensioned at the time of their first AMI, slightly more than half among both genders were available to the labour market two years later (Hämäläinen et al. 2004).

To the question 'Has a doctor ever stated that you have had a heart infarction?' 2.8% of working-aged men and 0.5% of working-aged women answered yes (Reunanen et al. 2002). According to the same interview the corresponding figures for angina pectoris were 3.1% and 1.1%. The differences are statistically significant (p<0.001).

At the end of the year 2003 a total of 192 570 Finns, were receiving special reimbursement for CHD medicines (The Social Insurance Institution 2004). Special reimbursement must be based on examinations by a specialist for internal diseases. In clear cases a statement by another physician can also be accepted if it is based on a long-term patient-doctor relationship. It is required that the patient's distinct angina pectoris symptom be according to a clinical examination considered to be chronic and respond to medical treatment. If the ECG does not give sufficient proof of CHD such as a sign of a myocardial infarction, the diagnosis has to be proved by an exercise test. Another alternative criterion is that the patient has suffered a heart infarction or has undergone coronary by-pass surgery or angioplasty. It is also possible that, in addition to the chest pain

symptom, a significant stenosis has been shown in coronary angiography (http://193.209.217.5/in/internet/suomi.nsf/alias/laake206).

In the diagnostics of the condition symptoms, chest pain and breathlessness during physical distress are important. In addition, mapping of risk factors is considered significant, especially in planning treatment. If the symptoms and risk factors suggest that CHD is probable, the diagnosis is usually verified with an exercise test. Nowadays, these tests are also widely used in primary health care. The patient material in primary health care is, however, different from patients examined at hospital outpatient clinics. If further measures are needed, patients are referred to coronary angiography, which is the gold standard for the exercise test.

In previous studies the diagnosis of CHD has been based on epidemiological data, and findings in the ECG have comprised important measurements. In primary health care, however, GPs meet patients who have the conception of suffering from angina pectoris or having had an acute myocardial infarction. Whether or not this conception is true they lead their own lives in this belief and make their decisions accordingly. It is therefore not always self-evident how the notion of a serious illness has affected their lives and well-being. Moreover, we do not know what kind of commitment they have to treatment. These aspects are examined in this study.

# 6 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON CORONARY HEART DISEASE AMONG THE WORKING-AGED POPULATION

# 6.1 Epidemiology

In most industrialised countries mortality from cardiovascular diseases has shown steadily decreasing trends in working-aged people since around 1970 (Uemura and Pisa 1988, Levi et al. 2002). In Finland in the age group 35–64 years the average annual decline of CHD mortality in the 1970s was 1.8% for men and 3.4% for women (Pyörälä et al. 1985). The decline in CHD mortality was also accompanied by a decline in the incidence of non-fatal myocardial infarction. Both of these trends appear to have been due to changes in life-styles and risk factors as well as changes in the management of patients with CHD. The changes in risk factors observed from 1972 to 1992 predicted a decline in mortality from ischemic heart disease of 44% in men and 49% in women, while the decline observed was 55% and 68% respectively (Vartiainen et al. 1994). This suggests that most of the decline in mortality from ischemic heart disease can be explained by changes in the three main coronary risk factors.

A prominent example of the long-term consequences of successful CVD prevention and its influence on premature mortality in Finland was that from 1969-71 to 1995 the age-standardised CHD mortality decreased nationwide by 65% and in North Karelia by as much as 73% (Puska et al. 1998). During the 11-year period 1991-2001 the annual average decline in the age-standardised CHD mortality rate was 5.2% among men and 6.1% among women (Pajunen et al. 2004).

The community-based cardiovascular disease prevention strategy adopted and implemented in eastern Finland during the past 25 years has resulted in a drastic reduction in serum cholesterol levels among the entire population, including subjects with the highest cholesterol levels (Jousilahti et al. 1998). During the last two decades the CHD mortality in the Finnish working-aged population has declined by about 77% (Vehviläinen et al. 2004).

During The FINAMI study period from the years 1983-1997, 6501 CHD events were recorded among men and 1778 among women aged 35-64 years (Salomaa et al. 2003 A). The CHD mortality was found to have declined on an average 6.4%/year among men and 9.3%/year among women. The proportion of recurrences of all CHD events also declined significantly in both sexes. The same authors also state that the decline in out-of-hospital CHD deaths has contributed the main part to the overall decline in CHD mortality rates among persons 35 to years of age in Finland (Salomaa et al 2003 B).

The Mini-Finland survey from the years 1979-80 revealed that the angina pectoris symptom (i.e. reported chest pain under physical strain) may already appear in both sexes at the age of 30, though it was not until the age of 65 that it becomes more common among men compared to women (Aromaa et al. 1989). A large Finnish study in the 1980s also indicated that ten per cent of all heart infarctions were silent, revealed only by ECG changes (Reunanen et al. 1985).

During recent years CHD has clearly moved to old age groups, while it was previously commonly manifested among working-aged men. Among the working-aged population a decrease in risk factors has contributed to this favourable progress. In fact, CVD risk factors have declined markedly in Finland in the past two decades, suggesting that the national preventive cardiovascular strategy has been successful (Vartiainen et al. 2000). On the other hand, while the decreasing trend in smoking among men is encouraging, the increase in smoking among hypertensive women taking antihypertensive medication warrants concern (Kastarinen et al. 2002). Also the prevalence of obesity has increased significantly in normotensive and particularly in hypertensive Finns during the past 15 years (Kastarinen et al. 2000).

There is a difference between the genders in the incidence of CHD among working-aged people. The Framingham Study of cardiovascular disease over five decades indicated that women outlived men and experienced fewer atherosclerotic events, lagging behind men in incidence by 10-20 years (Kannel 2002).

#### 6.2 Risk factors

In the Framingham Offspring Study men aged 35 to 54 years were studied, and in multivariate logistic regression analysis age, smoking and HDL and LDL cholesterol showed a significant association with coronary heart disease (Wilson et al. 1980). In a prospective study of 7735 men aged 40-59 years drawn from general practices in 24 British towns, univariate estimates of the risk of ischemic heart disease show that serum total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations, systolic and diastolic blood pressures, cigarette smoking and body mass index are all associated with an increased risk of ischemic heart disease (Shaper et al. 1985). In a Finnish study of 3589 men aged 40-59 years smoking and high serum cholesterol were significant risk factors for sudden coronary death in men with manifestations of coronary heart disease (Suhonen et

al. 1988). The prevalence of risk factors among CHD patients may be considered high, since according to an analysis of 14 international randomized clinical trials 80% to 90% of patients with CHD had at least one of the four conventional risk factors (cigarette smoking, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension) (Khot et al. 2003).

In order to assess the risk of the development of CVD the SCORE Model and Risk Charts have recently been developed (De Backer et al. 2003). A core element of the model is that risk is now defined in terms of the absolute 10-year probability of sustaining a fatal cardiovascular event.

#### *6.2.1 High cholesterol*

The lifetime risk of CHD increases sharply with higher total cholesterol levels for men and women at all ages (Lloyd-Jones et al. 2003). In men over 40 years of age cholesterol levels predict subsequent mortality, especially among those with preexisting cardiovascular disease (Pekkanen et al. 1990). However, changes in LDL/HDL ratios are better predictors of successful CHD risk reduction than changes in levels (Natarajan et al, 2003). Although the LDL/HDL ratio is a strong risk factor for CHD, it has also been found that LDL, HDL and an interaction between the two are all independent risk factors (Grover et al 2003). The lipid risk profile may, however, be different in men and women, since the serum triglyceride concentration emerged as an independent risk factor for CHD in a large follow-up study of women aged 38-60 (Bengtsson et al. 1993).

#### 6.2.2 Hypertension

Hypertension is one of the most prevalent and powerful contributors to cardiovascular diseases, and CHD, the most lethal and common sequela, deserves highest priority (Kannel 1996). In uncomplicated mild hypertension (systolic blood pressure 140-159) among persons aged 35-64 the CHD risk has been identified 15% over 10 years with acceptable accuracy (Yikona et al. 2002). In hypertensive men treated in clinical practice systolic BP is a good predictor of CHD risk, whereas diastolic BP appears to be of little value in this respect (Benetos et al. 2002). Diastolic BP is also a weaker indicator than systolic BP of long-term cardiovascular events (Borghi et al. 2002). With increasing age, a gradual shift has been found from diastolic BP to systolic BP and then to pulse pressure as predictors of CHD risk, and in patients <50 years of age, diastolic BP was the strongest predictor (Franklin et al. 2001). Of the BP measures available from clinical sphygmomanometry, pulse pressure is a strong cardiac risk factor but is difficult to distinguish in this respect from systolic BP (Millar and Lever 2000).

#### 6.2.3 Smoking

A number of studies report smoking as a risk factor for CHD (Wilhelmsson et al. 1975, Doll and Peto 1976, Rosenberg et al. 1985a, Willett et al. 1987, Kaufman et al. 1987). Quitting smoking is associated with a substantial reduction in the risk of all-cause mortality among patients with CHD, and this reduction appears to be consistent regardless of age and sex (Critchley and Capewell 2003). In a case-control study of 1873 men under the age of 55 with first episodes of myocardial infarction and 2775 controls the risk of myocardial infarction in cigarette smokers decreased within a few years of quitting to a level similar to that in men who have never smoked (Rosenberg et al. 1985b).

#### 6.2.4 High blood glucose

Nondiabetic hyperglycemia is an indicator of cardiovascular risk (Balkau et al. 1998). Individuals with glucose intolerance or diagnosed diabetes are at increased risk in terms of total mortality, CHD incidence and CHD mortality, and these associations remain significant when the risk factors of age, smoking, alcohol use, hypertension, cholesterol, triglycerides and BMI are taken into account in multivariate analysis (Rodriguez et al. 1999). In the Whitehall Study of 18,403 male civil servants aged 40-64 years, the 7,5-year CHD mortality was approximately doubled for subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (Fuller et al. 1980).

Mortality and morbidity rates in CHD are 2 to 4 times higher among patients with type 1 diabetes than in age-matched nondiabetic subjects (Pyörälä et al. 1987, Krolewski et al. 1987). Poor metabolic control is also a strong predictor of CHD events in patients with late-onset type 1 diabetes without nephropathy, independent of other cardiovascular risk factors (Lehto et al. 1999). Postchallenge hyperglycemia may predict CVD mortality independently of other CVD risk factors (Saydah et al. 2001). In subjects with type 1 diabetes CAD occurs earlier in life and is more often fatal, and suboptimal glycemic control (HbA1C >7.5%) is a strong risk factor for progression of coronary artery calcification (Snell-Bergeon et al. 2003). A large study covering different European countries observed an average prevalence of approximately 10 per cent for CVD (a past history or electrocardiogram abnormalities) among insulindependent DM patients under the age of 60 (Koivisto et al. 1996).

Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) DM is also a disease associated with a high vascular risk, where the majority of patients need, and are likely to benefit from, pharmacological treatment of several cardiovascular risk factors (Yki-Järvinen 2000). In the Helsinki Heart Study patients with non-insulin-dependent DM ran a markedly increased risk of CHD (Koskinen et al. 1992). In a study concerning over 116,000 US middle-aged women type 2 DM was a strong determinant of CHD, ischemic stroke and cardiovascular mortality (Manson et al. 1991).

#### 6.2.5 Obesity

The body mass index has long been recognised as a significant predictor of ischemic heart disease (Rabkin et al. 1977). In middle-aged women measures of abdominal adiposity are associated with a risk of CHD (Rexrode et al. 1998). Among women 30 to 55 years of age and free of known cardiovascular disease with a body-mass index of 32.0 or higher who had never smoked, the relative risk of death from cardiovascular disease was 4.1, as compared with the risk among women with a body-mass index below 19.0 (Manson et al. 1995). In middle-aged women the influence of BMI on cardiovascular disease may be greater than previously thought, and although to a great extent explained by the influence of obesity on other risk factors, it is already associated with adverse outcomes at moderately increased body weight (Rosengren et al. 2003). In middle-aged men abdominal obesity is an independent risk factor for CHD, even more markedly than overall obesity (Lakka et al. 2002a). The same authors also found that metabolic syndrome increased cardiovascular and overall mortality, and was independent of other important and potentially confounding factors such as smoking, alcohol consumption and serum LDL cholesterol levels (Lakka et al. 2002b). It has also been stated that being overweight and obese promotes clusters of CHD risk factors which greatly influence their impact (Kannel et al. 2002). The overweight category has also said to be associated with increased relative and population-attributable risk of hypertension and cardiovascular sequelae (Wilson et al. 2002).

#### 6.2.6 Alcohol

The role of alcohol as a risk factor for CHD remains unclear. In a large prospective material on 123,840 persons with 600 CAD deaths, alcohol had disparate relations to cardiovascular conditions, and the findings indirectly supported a protective effect of lighter drinking against CAD (Klatsky et al. 1990). Findings from a study in New Zealand also support the hypothesis that light and moderate alcohol consumption reduces the risk of coronary heart disease (Jackson et al. 1991). Lifelong teetotallers and ex-drinkers have shown a significantly increased risk ratio of major CHD events compared with regular drinkers, although in absolute terms this risk is small (Wannamethee and Shaper 1997). Five years later in a study concerning middle-aged men the same authors found that teetotallers with diagnosed CHD carried an increased risk of coronary heart disease and cardiovascular disease mortality compared with stable occasional drinkers, whereas teetotallers with no diagnosed coronary heart disease were not at increased risk (Wannamethee and Shaper 2002). In a large Scottish cohort study with 21 years of follow-up involving 5766 men aged 35-64 no relation was found between mortality from coronary heart disease and alcohol consumption once adjustments were made for potential confounding factors (Hart et al. 1999). On the other hand, moderate/heavy drinking in men with a history of previous myocardial infarction is associated with a marginally

significant increase in the risk of cardiovascular death and a significant increase in all-cause mortality (Shaper and Wannamethee 2000). In a Finnish study of 2 160 non-abstinent middle-aged men, again, a hangover at least monthly increased the risk of cardiovascular death over 2-fold in a follow-up time of 6.7 years compared with men with fewer hangovers, with adjustment for age and total alcohol consumption (Kauhanen et al. 1997).

#### 6.2.7 Poor sleep

A subjective complaint of insomnia appears to increase the risk of a future coronary event, and this increase cannot be explained by age or classic coronary risk factors (Schwartz et al. 1999). In middle-aged women poor sleep and sleep without a restorative function are associated with poor prognosis, and the association is not explained by depressive symptoms or by standard coronary risk factors (Leineweber et al. 2003). In middle-aged males an association has been found between difficulties in getting to sleep and CHD mortality (Mallon et al. 2002). Also short and long self-reported sleep durations are independently associated with a modestly increased risk of coronary events in women (Ayas et al. 2003).

#### 6.2.8 Life events

Indicators of impaired quality of life are related to high levels of cardiovascular risk factors and a high prevalence of overt cardiovascular disease (Siegrist 1987). In addition, emotional disturbance has been found to be a significant risk factor for coronary heart disease (Tennant and McLean 2001). The risk of premature death from cardiovascular disease is also particularly sensitive to socioeconomic influences acting in early life (Smith et al. 1997). However, in a review article based on 15 longitudinal and four case-control studies no consistent dose-response relationship was found between the index of early life experience and adult cardiovascular disease (Elford et al. 1991).

#### 6.2.9 Depression and other psychological factors

Psychological risk factors for CHD have also been investigated. Depressive symptoms and clinical depression have an unfavorable impact on mortality in CHD patients (Barth et al. 2004). Type A behavior has been associated with a twofold risk of angina, myocardial infarction and CHD in general, as compared to Type B behavior (Haynes et al. 1980). Proneness to anger places normotensive middle-aged men and women at a significant risk of CHD morbidity and death independent of the established biological risk factors (Williams et al. 2000), and episodes of anger are capable of triggering the onset of acute myocardial infarction (Mittleman et al. 1995). Women appear to be

more sensitive than men with respect to psychosocial risk factors for CHD involving work content, workload and control, physical and emotional stress reactions and burnout (Hallman et al. 2001). On the other hand, in a prospective occupational 5-year follow-up cohort study of London-based civil service employees psychological distress emerged as a risk factor for CHD in men, which was not explained by health behaviors, social isolation or work characteristics (Stansfeld et al. 2002). Among men depression has been found to be an independent risk factor for ischemic heart disease, and this risk persisted regardless of smoking status, deprivation score and presence of diabetes or hypertension (Hippisley-Cox et al. 1998). It is also noteworthy that patients with CHD and low emotional social support who express anger outwardly are at a highly increased risk of disease progression, independent of medication or other risk factors (Angerer et al. 2000).

### 6.3 Symptoms

The typical symptoms of CHD, chest pain and breathlessness, are well known. They are considered quite dramatic, and can thus be fairly reliably mapped by a survey (Rose and Blackburn 1968). The chest pain may be classified as typical, atypical and non-anginal, and the degree of its difficulty is nowadays classified as CCS (Canadian Cardiovascular Society classification) I-IV (Kettunen 2000). Among patients with symptoms, the presence of typical chest pain is associated with an increased risk of mortality as compared with patients with atypical or non-anginal chest pain (Jones et al. 2004).

#### 6.3.1 Palpitations

As early as 1987 it was stated that palpitations are not an independent risk factor for increased cardiac morbidity or mortality (Knudson 1987). However, in a prospective cohort study of 190 consecutive patients presenting with a complaint of palpitations at a university medical centre the etiology of the palpitations was cardiac in 43% of cases (Weber and Kapoor 1996). In another study of patients with palpitations consulting GPs it appeared that those experiencing palpitations at work and those experiencing palpitations affected by sleeping were significantly more likely to have a cardiac cause for their palpitations (Summerton et al. 2001). Gender differences in non-chest pain symptoms among CHD patients have also been found, women being more likely than men to report palpitations (Milner et al. 1999). We should, however, keep in mind that palpitation is a very common presenting symptom in primary care, and among most patients referred to secondary care for this complaint the cause of the palpitations is benign (Zimetbaum and Josephson 1998, Mayou et al. 2003).

#### 6.3.2 Depression

Depression is a common sequel to CHD events such as bypass grafting, coronary angioplasty, myocardial infarction and myocardial ischemia (Lehto et al. 2000). At least a small, transient increase in the number of patients with depression shortly after bypass surgery has been established (Timberlake et al. 1997). On the other hand, there is evidence that the majority of patients who were depressed after bypass surgery were also depressed beforehand (McKhann et al. 1997). In a sample of 144 symptomatic patients with CHD, twenty-four per cent had a probable depressive disorder, but none had been previously identified as suffering from depression, or been treated for depression (Valkamo et al. 2001). The presence of depressive symptoms has an adverse impact on the prognosis of patients with established CHD (Frasure-Smith et al. 1995, Barefoot et al. 1996, Connerney et al. 2001). In fact, having symptoms of major depression following an AMI multiplies the risk of mortality over the first 6 months by a factor of 3 to 4 (Frasure-Smith et al. 1993). Depression is also a strong predictor of the degree of work resumption among CHD patients (Söderman et al. 2003). Patients with depression following an AMI are less likely to adhere to recommended behavior and lifestyle changes intended to reduce the risk of subsequent cardiac events, which could explain why depression in the hospital is related to long-term prognosis in patients recovering from an AMI (Ziegelstein et al. 2000). The cooccurrence of depression and cardiac disease thus represents a great challenge (Lesperance and Frasure-Smith 2000).

#### 6.3.3 Sleep disorders

In a cross-sectional study of 5419 Finnish adult men, a higher prevalence of diagnosed myocardial infarction was found among those who slept more than 9 hours, whilst those sleeping less than 6 hours per night had more symptomatic CHD (Partinen et al. 1982). Among working-aged women poor sleep has been found to be associated with an increase in spasmodic chest pain as well as irregular heart beats (Asplund and Åberg 1998). After a coronary event fatigue and sleep problems are frequently reported complaints over a period of weeks (Denollet 1994).

#### 6.3.4 Sexual problems

Screening for cardiovascular risk factors and adoption of preventive measures is recommended in men with erectile dysfunction, and men with cavernous arterial insufficiency aged 50 to 59 years are especially prone to develop coronary artery disease (Speel et al. 2003). It is known that cardiovascular diseases share risk factors with erectile dysfunction (Jackson et al. 2002, Seftel et al. 2004), and men with CHD have an increased risk of developing the condition (Mickley H 2002, Shiri et al. 2003). Coronary risk factors have also been confirmed to exert

an influence on erectile dysfunction apart from that of the known determinants of the dysfunction such as age, diabetes and medication (Feldman et al. 2000). For example, every mmol/liter of increase in total cholesterol was associated with a 1.32 times risk of erectile dysfunction, while every mmol/liter of increase in HDL cholesterol was associated with 0.38 times the risk (Wei et al. 1994). Erectile dysfunction is also a clinically important complication of cardiovascular disease and should be asked about and treated accordingly (Jackson 1999). However, the sex act is considered a relatively weak precipitant of an acute coronary event (DeBusk 2000). Even cardiologists consider it important that CHD patients be encouraged to continue their sexual activities (Moller et al. 2001). In any case, after a cardiac event one important issue concerns with the time to resume sexual activity (Timmins and Kalizer 2003).

Cardiovascular issues associated with sexual functions are as yet not well known in the case of women. Myocardial infarction does have a negative impact on sexuality issues in a female patient, but demands are not being met despite the fact that many patients having had a myocardial infarction desire sexual counselling (Papadopoulos et al. 1983). Women more than men have reported a decrease in the frequency of sexual interaction, a less satisfactory relationship, and an increased frequency of reports of chest pain during sexual activity after a myocardial infarction (Hamilton and Seidman 1993).

# 6.4 Quality of life

Quality of life is considerably affected in patients following a cardiac event, especially during the initial recovery phase (Westin et al. 1997). In a Finnish study of symptomatic CHD patients with chest pain life dissatisfaction was not primarily determined by the severity of CHD but by the existence of depressive symptoms (Valkamo et al. 2003). It is noteworthy that according to a British cohort study the greatest impact on quality of life after myocardial infarction has been seen in patients of working age (Brown et al. 2000).

## 6.5 Diagnostics

#### 6.5.1 Screening

Screening for CHD is focused on the risk factors underlying it. For the most part screening concerns elevated serum lipid levels. Serum cholesterol levels are directly associated with CHD risk, and there is no threshold level below which there is no risk (Montague et al. 1994). However, universal screening is neither cost-effective nor the best use of the patient's and physician's time (Garber

1997). On the basis of the effectiveness of treatment, the availability of accurate and reliable tests, and the likelihood of identifying people with abnormal lipids and increased CHD risk, screening appears to be effective in middle-aged and older adults and in young adults with additional cardiovascular risk factors (Pignone et al. 2001). In a Norwegian study cardiovascular risk factor screening of 40-year-old men and women yielded a substantial number of people with lipid abnormalities, especially those associated with the metabolic syndrome and hypertension, indicating that monitoring of this age group in the population continues to be worthwhile (Tonstad and Hjermann 2003). Screening is most likely useful in populations at high short-time risk of dying of CHD, for example survivors of myocardial infarction and middle-aged men with multiple cardiac risk factors (Garber et al. 1996). In young adults cholesterol screening and treatment should be limited to individuals with known coronary disease or other unusual factors which place them at high short-term risk of CHD death (Hulley et al. 1993). On the other hand, since cholesterol levels in young adults predict CHD risk 30-40 years later, waiting until mid-life to find elevated cholesterol loses a significant portion of the benefit (Cleeman 1997).

#### 6.5.2 Exercise test

Although the exercise test has a long history in cardiovascular medicine, it was not until 1932 that exercise ECG was proposed as a diagnostic tool for angina (Goldhammer and Scherf 1932). Nowadays the exercise stress test is a useful screening tool for the detection of significant CAD (Darrow 1999). Exercise ECG is invaluable in the initial assessment of CHD and yields a great deal of prognostic information (Myers and Froelicher 1993, White and Evans 2001). It can also be used in the assessment of therapeutic intervention in cardiac patients (Younis and Chaitman 1993). Routine exercise testing in asymptomatic individuals has, however, low clinical yield and is not a cost-effective strategy (Pilote et al. 1998), although in 25,927 healthy men 20 to 82 years of age at baseline (mean 42.9 years) with no history of cardiovascular disease and no risk factors, an abnormal test was associated with a 20-fold increased risk of CHD death compared with men yielding normal test results (Gibbons et al. 2000). The test requires minimum equipment and in most cases can be done safely (Ashley et al. 2000). For primary care physicians, exercise testing is a cost-effective tool to evaluate patients presenting with symptoms and helps to stratify those with probable coronary artery disease into a high-risk group needing referral and a low-risk group which can be observed (Evans and Ellested 1994). In a Swedish primary health care study involving 577 patients suffering chest pain, an exercise test led to a diagnostic decision in 77% of cases (Nilsson et al. 2003). In that study most of the findings were negative. We should, however, bear in mind that among high-risk patients, for example those over 50 years of age suffering from a typical angina pectoris syndrome, CHD cannot be ruled out with a negative finding, even if the finding can be of some predictive value (Hill and Timmis 2002). Nonetheless, the findings in coronary angiography cannot be for certain predicted with the test (Froelicher et al. 1988). After a myocardial infarction ventricular arrhythmias have emerged as the most important prognostic factor measured during the exercise test (Hämäläinen et al. 1989).

Meta-analysis of trials has shown that the exercise test has a specificity of around 80% and a sensitivity of around 70% for obstructive coronary disease confirmed by angiography (Gianrossi et al. 1989). In one Finnish textbook of cardiology the corresponding figures are estimated at 80% and 65%, respectively (Helin and Heikkilä 1994). Such low sensitivity has been considered to reduce the utility of the test (Froelicher et al. 1989). It is also well known that many positive findings in the test are false, especially among women (Pratt et al. 1989). The lower prevalence of severe coronary artery disease and the fact that more women than men fail to reach maximum aerobic capacity during exercise testing lead to lower sensitivity for ST changes overall (Hlatky et al. 1989). The predictive value of test depends after all on the degree of ST-segment depression, and the pretest probability of CHD is an important determinant of the predictive value of any test result in the individual patient (Rifkin and Hood 1977). To improve the value of the test a prognostic score has been devised to help clinicians determine the prognosis and decide whether to refer outpatients with suspected coronary disease for cardiac catheterization (Mark et al. 1991).

In Finland during recent years the test has also come to be more commonly applied by trained GPs in primary health care. The patient material is, however, different compared with the materials in outpatient departments of internal medicine. The good availability of the test has been found to be a problem, since it may create a demand and thus the threshold for referring patients for the test becomes lower. In this case the number of false positive findings may increase, which may contribute to unnecessary further measures and incur extra costs (Länsimies 1994). In addition, the interpretation of the test requires specialized knowledge (Yleislääkärin käsikirja 1998). It has nevertheless been found possible to increase the number of diagnostic exercise tests in primary care when the indications for referral are sensibly outlined (Jauhiainen et al. 2001).

# 6.6 Primary prevention

Extensive epidemiologic, clinical and laboratory data accumulated over the past 3 decades provide a convincing rationale for primary prevention of CHD beginning early in life with emphasis placed on healthful lifestyle training and behavioral change interventions (Hayman and Reineke 2003). Retaining traditional balanced dietary habits and limiting salt intake together with avoiding smoking are important measures in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in developing countries (Li et al. 1994). All patients seen by a physician should have a periodic nutritional and smoking assessment and blood pressure measurement, and those patients who have less than optimal risk factor behaviors should be a target of further intervention (Kottke 1985). Individual goals should be set and worked towards through lifestyle changes and

medication (Keevil et al. 2002). One good possibility is the applicability of familial premature CHD in screening for early prevention in primary health care (Koski et al. 2000). In primary prevention, control of the major risks mainly in patients with clustered factors will substantially reduce the threat of ischemic events (Gensini et al. 1998). Unfortunately, health checks have little role in preventing coronary heart disease, but they may help to promote healthy lifestyles (Hanlon et al. 1996).

Because, however, many patients in primary prevention fail to achieve target lipid levels, simplicity of treatment can be considered to be of great importance (Gaw 2002). Although there is strong evidence to support the treatment of abnormal blood lipid levels among people with cardiovascular disease, it must be admitted that primary prevention is problematic in that many individuals with lipid abnormalities may never actually develop cardiovascular disease (Grover et al. 2000). In point of fact guidelines for assessing CHD risk and lipid-lowering therapy differ greatly (Broedl et al. 2003). On the other hand, in subjects without evidence of prior myocardial infarction but suffering from hypercholesterolemia, the use of lipid-lowering medicine yields substantial health benefits, as shown in The West of Scotland coronary prevention study with the use of pravastatin (Caro et al. 1997). In Finland it has also been found that there is still room for improvement in the use of lipid-lowering drugs, since only half of those who according to recommendations really had reason actually used the drugs (Saaristo et al. 2000). In addition, according to a risk factor survey in 2002 the marked decline previously seen in cholesterol levels in the Finnish population had levelled off (Vartiainen et al. 2003).

Control of elevated blood pressure is also important. In an American study concerning subjects 30 to 74 years of age and without prior CHD, modification of hypertension to high normal levels could prevent approximately one fifth of CHD events in men and one third in women, whereas control to optimal levels might prevent 37% and 56% of CHD events (Wong et al. 2003 A). In the same study control of LDL, HDL and blood pressure to optimal levels resulted in the prevention of 80.5% of CHD events in men and 82.1% in women (Wong et al. 2003 B). It has also been stated that strategies to reduce coronary heart disease risk in primary care are most cost-effective if they are limited to patients with raised blood pressure or a history of coronary heart disease (Field et al. 1995).

Evidence for an independent role of increased physical activity in the primary prevention of coronary heart disease has also been suggested. In a meta-analysis summary, relative risk of death from coronary heart disease was 1.9 (95% confidence interval 1.6-2.2) for sedentary compared with active occupations (Berlin and Colditz 1990).

In conclusion, in individuals with favorable levels of cholesterol and blood pressure who do not smoke and do not have diabetes, MI or ECG abnormalities, long-term mortality is much lower and longevity much greater (Stamler et al. 1999). It is also worth mentioning that subjects with favorable cardiovascular risk profiles in middle age have been found to incur lower average annual Medicare charges in older age (Daviglus et al. 1998).

# 6.7 Secondary prevention and treatment

A large European survey has demonstrated a high prevalence of modifiable risk factors in CHD patients, indicating that there is considerable potential to reduce morbidity and mortality (EUROASPIRE 1997). Several studies have shown that lipid-lowering therapy reduces mortality in patients with established CHD (Lewis et al. 1999, Pedersen et al. 2000, Aronow et al. 2001, Simes et al. 2002). The use of statins has in fact increased throughout the West since the 1990s (EUROASPIRE I and II 2001). In Finland acute coronary events were reduced already in the 1990s with another lipid-lowering medicine, gemfibrozil (Heinonen et al. 1994). Lipid-lowering therapy is also cost-effective in patients with coronary heart disease, as found in The Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) (Johannesson et al. 1997).

Secondary prevention should not, however, be based on medication only. There are numerous possibilities for improvements in the secondary prevention and medical management of CHD (Sigurdsson et al. 2002). Comprehensive lifestyle changes may bring about regression of even severe coronary atherosclerosis after only one year, without the use of lipid-lowering drugs (Ornish et al. 1990). In order to gain maximum benefit, lifestyle measures need to be adopted (McLeod et al. 2004). It is noteworthy that diet guidance is profitable since it increases among other things patients' commitment to treatment (Tuominen et al. 1998). With modern drug treatments for secondary cardiovascular disease prevention it remains possible through a favorable diet, exercise and smoking cessation to achieve an additional reduction in the risk for CHD (The Vestfold Heartcare Study Group 2003).

Quitting smoking is associated with a substantial reduction in risk of all-cause mortality among patients with CHD, and the reduction seems consistent regardless of differences in age, sex, country and time period (Critchley et al. 2003). In the EUROASPIRE I cohort study the results of the mortality follow-up of patients underlined the prominence of smoking and diabetes for the secondary prevention of CHD (De Bacquer et al. 2003). In addition, there is strong evidence to indicate that after coronary artery bypass graft surgery patients who do not stop smoking have a markedly elevated risk of premature death and a higher rate of repeat revascularization procedures compared with those who give up the habit (van Domburg et al. 2000). However, despite awareness that smoking cessation contributes substantially to a decrease in cardiovascular events, evidence of effective cessation strategies in cardiovascular patient populations is very limited (Wiggers et al. 2003). In Finland 22% of patients continue smoking after a coronary event (Järvi 2001).

It should ultimately be borne in mind that people also expect doctors to pay attention to the life habits of their patients and the prevention of CHD (Danielsson et al. 2000), and it is worth mentioning that the doctor-patient relationship may act as a barrier to the delivery of secondary prevention in primary care (Summerskill and Pope 2002). There would in any case appear to be ample opportunity for improving the secondary prevention of CHD in general

practice (Campbell et al. 1998a). Preventive care in patients with proven ischemic heart disease in general practice remains haphazard (Bradley et al. 1997). One means of improvement here may be the nurse-led secondary prevention clinics, which have improved CHD patients' health, the most benefit being in functional status, but there have also been improvements in the context of chest pain and less need for hospital admissions (Campbell et al. 1998b). In Scotland nurse-led secondary prevention clinics have succeeded in improving secondary prevention and reducing mortality (Murchie et al. 2003). There is in any case considerable potential to reduce the risk of a further major ischemic event in patients with established coronary disease, which can be achieved by effective lifestyle intervention, rigorous management of blood pressure and cholesterol, and the appropriate use of prophylactic drugs (Bowker et al. 1996). In one British study every measure of modifiable risk studied was found to be managed suboptimally (Flanagan et al. 1999).

#### 6.8 Use of health services

Among adults during the year 1996 11.4% of visits to doctors concerned cardiovascular disorders (Arinen et al. 1998). It has been found that CHD patients may comply well with follow-up visits but less well with lifestyle changes (Bergman and Berterö 2001). Most studies on the use of health services by CHD patients deal with the use of medicines, especially lipid-lowering drugs. The risks of treatment discontinuation has been shown to increase continuously during treatment and totaled from 6 to 30% after 5 years (Insull 1977). However, the rate of discontinuation of statins is lower than that for other LLM, as shown in a large American cohort study (Andrade et al. 1995). In Finland the most frequent reasons for discontinuation were 'drug costs' and 'normal cholesterol values' (Strandberg et al. 1997). In general, the patients most likely to comply with lipid-lowering medications are those who have experience in being compliant with other medications and those who perceive their health as poor (Sung et al. 1998). Noncompliance must undoubtedly be of vital importance, since good adherence to statin treatment is associated with a lower risk of recurrent MI (Wei et al. 2002). In conclusion, clinicians need to recognize the widespread prevalence of noncompliance and realize that many, if not all, of their patients will not take their prescribed medications as directed (LaRosa H. and Larosa C. 2000).

# 7 AIMS OF THE STUDY

CHD is a common disorder, and GPs often meet patients suffering from it. When the suspicion of CHD arises, an exercise test is needed to verify the diagnosis.

In primary health care, GPs also meet CHD patients presenting with other symptoms and complaints than the well-known ones, e.g. mood disorders and sex life issues. GPs also have to take an overall view of their patients. With regard to CHD patients this consists in patients' previous history, including life events as well as secondary prevention and commitment to treatment. In this study these special aspects were studied concerning working-aged patients who have the conception of suffering from CHD.

#### Specific aims:

- 1. To evaluate the feasibility of exercise tests applied by trained GPs in primary health care.
- 2. To assess the significance and the predictive values of exercise tests used for working-aged patients in primary health care.
- 3. To evaluate risk factors related to secondary prevention in working-aged coronary heart disease patients.
- 4. To establish the spectrum of symptoms and complaints among working-aged people with self-reported coronary heart disease, and how they perceive their state of health.
- 5. To assess how childhood adversities are related to coronary heart disease among working-aged coronary heart disease patients.
- 6. To analyse the importance of, the satisfaction with, and the ease in talking about sex life with an important other as well as interest in sex among working-aged coronary heart disease patients.
- 7. To determine how working-aged coronary heart disease patients use health services with special focus on whether or not they neglect health care.

# 8 MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study involved two different materials:

### 8.1 Health centre patients at Kangasala

This cohort comprised all patients (N=246) examined by exercise test by four trained GPs at Kangasala health centre in Finland during the year 1998 (Table 1). The proportion of men was 44%, and the proportion of examined patients under the age of 60 was 55%. (I)

All patients less than 60 years of age were examined by the exercise test (N=393) carried out by the same trained GPs at Kangasala health centre during the years 1998-2000 (Table 2). Compared to the material used in the first analysis patients from the two following years were included, but patients at least 60 years of age were excluded, since they were not regarded as of working-age. Of this total 34 had previously diagnosed CHD, leaving 359 to be followed. Eleven of these, again, had moved to another area and two had died, both of an acute myocardial infarction during the follow-up. Throughout the two years 346 patients were followed. The material comprised 174 men (50.3%) and 172 women. (II)

**Table 1.** Age distribution (%) of patients examined by exercise test at Kangasala health centre during the year 1998.

	Men		Wo	omen	Total		
Age	N	%	N	%	N	%	
<40	4	4	8	6	12	5	
40–49	20	18	23	17	43	17	
50-59	43	40	37	27	80	33	
60-69	35	32	37	27	72	29	
70–79	7	6	31	22	38	16	
>80	0	0	1	1	1	0	
Total	109	100	137	100	246	100	

**Table 2.** Age distribution (%) of working-aged patients followed up two years after the exercise test.

	Men		Wo	omen	Total		
Age	N	%	N	%	N	%	
<30	4	3	2	1	6	2	
30-34	6	3	2	1	8	2	
35–39	10	6	12	7	22	6	
40–44	13	7	20	12	33	10	
45–49	32	18	25	14	57	17	
50-54	53	31	55	32	108	31	
55-59	56	32	56	33	112	32	
Total	174	100	172	100	346	100	

# 8.2 The Health and Social Support Study

#### 8.2.1 Study design

The Health and Social Support study (The HeSSup Study) is a prospective follow-up on the psychosocial health of the Finnish working-aged population conducted by the universities of Turku and Tampere and The Finnish Institute of Occupational Health. The general aim is to establish whether poor social support predicts morbidity and mortality outcomes (Korkeila 2005). The follow-up will include three repeated questionnaires: at baseline (in 1998) and after 5 and 10 years (in 2003 and 2008). The present study (III-VII) is based on data derived from the baseline questionnaire in 1998. In one of the original articles (V) data from the first follow-up questionnaire in 2003 was also used.

The language of the survey was originally Finnish, but it was translated for Swedish-speaking respondents. The questionnaire comprised 110 questions, many of which have been used successfully in previous studies. The survey was carried out between September 1998 and February 1999. A second postal round took place ten weeks after the first. The mailings consisted of the questionnaire, a personal invitation letter assuring confidentiality, a consent form and a pre-paid return envelope.

#### 8.2.2 Study population

The HeSSup population consisted of a random sample of 52 739 individuals drawn from the Finnish Population Register, stratified according to gender and four age groups: 20-24, 30-34, 40-44, and 50-54 (Korkeila 2005). Two additional samples, one from the Swedish-speaking population, the other from the population of Turku and neighbouring communities, were included in the total sample. The total was 64 797 individuals. Forms were returned by 26 518 individuals, a response rate of 40.8%. Altogether 620 were discarded. The reason for this was that the respondent did not belong to the original sample (e.g. a family member had filled in the questionnaire). Moreover, 245 individuals could not be contacted due to an incorrect address. There were also 2 071 forms that were not signed. A total of 20 662 (79.8%) of those included were collected from the first and 4 604 (17.8%) from the second postal round. The postal code could not be identified in 632 (2.4%) questionnaires, because the identification code had been removed. After exclusion of the over-represented Swedish-speaking and Turku samples the total number of respondents matched for general population comparisons was 21 101 out of 52 739 mailed questionnaires. The total response rate was 40.0% (Table 3, Korkeila et al. 2001).

In order to enable linkage of the questionnaire data with hospital medical registers, the Social Insurance Institution, the Finnish cancer registry and retirement registers, respondents were asked for personal consent by signature. Identification codes were used for this linkage purpose.

Since coronary heart disease is nowadays rare among young age groups, only the age groups 30-34, 40-44, and 50-54 (N=15 372, a response rate of 38.9%) were included in the analyses (IV–VII).

The data contained 319 patients: 185 coronary heart disease patients who had not experienced heart infarction (55.1% were men) and 134 patients who had (78.4% were men) (Table 4).

**Table 3.** Response rates in the HeSSup Study by gender and age (52 739 mailed questionnaires)

Response rates, % (No of responses/No of mailed questionnaires)

Age group	All	Women	Men
20–24	42.7 (5 624/13 177)	54.6 (3 534/6 471)	31.2 (2 090/6 706)
30–34	37.6 (4 976/13 222)	45.5 (2 944/6 469)	30.1 (2 032/6 753)
40–44	37.9 (5 120/13 248)	45.5 (3 013/6 616)	30.3 (2 107/6 632)
50-54	41.1 (5 376/13 093)	45.3 (2 948/6 502)	36.8 (2 428/6 591)
Total	40.0 (21 096/52 739)	47.7 (12 439/26 058)	32.1 (8 657/26 681)

The age group or gender could not be identified in 5 cases.

**Table 4.** Coronary heart disease patients studied according to age and gender.

	CHD, no heart infarction				CHD, with heart infarction				
_	(angina pectoris only)				(past MI)				
	Women	Men	Total		Women	Men	Total		
	N=83	N=102	N=185	%	N=29	N=105	N=134	%	
Age group									
30–34	16	14	30	16	4	3	7	5	
40–44	20	28	48	26	3	9	12	9	
50-54	47	60	107	58	22	93	115	86	

### 8.3 Analyses of the exercise test

The tests were performed according to a protocol, the workload increasing continuously. ST changes were measured with the Mason-Likar ECG (Myers and Froelicher 1993). The test outcome was concidered positive if the ST-depression in the chest leads (V4-6) was at least 1 mm, and was not rapidly ascending. The occurrence of chest pain was also noted.

In the case of patients tested more than once during the period only the first test was included. The classification of findings concerning CHD was four-step, positive, equivocal, negative or uninterpretable. In analysing the case history it was ascertained what the treatment decision had been in each case. The usefulness of the test was evaluated according to how the diagnostics of CHD was matched. (I)

The material included only those without a diagnosis of CHD at time of testing. Two years after the test, check was made how many of the patients concerned were still resident in the district and how many of them were still alive. All patients were checked as to whether or not they had a diagnosis of CHD after the two years' follow-up period. (II)

The specificity and sensitivity as well as the positive and negative predictive values of the test were calculated in respect to whether or not participants had a diagnosis of CHD by the end of the follow-up period. In the calculation positive and equivocal findings were combined and uninterpretable findings were excluded. The analyses were made using the SPSS System for Windows, release 11.5.

## 8.4 Analyses of the Health and Social Support Study

There were 110 items in the questionnaire covering the most central areas of life, including health habits, medication and diagnosed illnesses. Subjects were asked whether or not a doctor had told them that they have or have had angina pectoris or myocardial infarction. In interpretation of results CHD patients were divided into two groups. The first comprised coronary patients not having suffered a myocardial infarction (angina pectoris group) and the second patients who had had myocardial infarction (infarction group). Four age-, and sex-matched controls were selected for every patient for comparison. Stroke was ruled out in the control groups, but otherwise there were no differences between the CHD groups and their respective controls. The diagnosis of CHD was thus based solely on the subjects' own conception; no other knowledge of the diagnosis was available.

Risk factors were mapped by asking whether or not a doctor had ever said that the study participant had a high cholesterol level, diabetes or high blood pressure. Smoking was examined by asking whether the participant had ever smoked regularly, and whether he or she still smoked regularly. The height, current weight, maximal weight during lifetime and weight at the age of twenty were also established. The corresponding body mass indices (BMI) were calculated. Consumption of alcohol was mapped by asking the frequency of hangovers during the last twelve months. A hangover at least once a month was considered frequent. It was also asked whether or not the participant had been sober throughout life. It was asked how much and how exhausting exercise participants took, and the exercise variable was then calculated according to how strenuous the exercise has been. For volume of activity, an activity metabolic equivalent (MET) index was used (Kujala et al. 1998). Finally the index was divided into two classes, the limit being two MET hours of exercise daily. (III)

The appearance of dyspnea was categorised into four degrees of difficulty. Participants were also asked whether or not they had experienced daily or weekly chest pain during anger or other kinds of emotion, palpitation and perspiration without physical exercise, flushing, trembling of hands and voice and jerking of muscles. Irregular heartbeats daily or weekly were also asked. Depression was estimated by Beck's depression scale (Beck and Ward 1961) ranging from 0 to 63. The normal score on this scale is below 10. In mild depression the scores are between 10 and 19 (Varjonen et al. 1997). Respondents were also asked how well and how many hours a day they had usually slept and how often they had felt day-time sleepiness, which when occurring daily or almost daily has been proved to be associated with depression, insomnia and breath interruptions during sleep (Hublin et al. 1996). The associations, odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI), between symptoms and coronary heart disease with and without heart infarction were computed by conditional logistic regression analysis. (IV)

The subjects were in terms of the following questions asked to think about their childhood adversities. Did your parents divorce? Did your family have long-lasting financial difficulties? Did serious conflicts arise in your family? Were you often afraid of some member of your family? Was someone in the family seriously or chronically ill? Had someone in the family problems with alcohol? The alternative answers were yes, no or I do not know. Only the first two alternatives were included in statistical analyses. Finally odds ratios (OR) were calculated in the conditional logistic regression analysis for matched pairs data for every childhood adversity as factor (Model 1). The same figures were calculated adjusting with education (Model 2), with conventional risk factors such as smoking, obesity (BMI  $\geq$  27) and self-reported hypertension (Model 3), and with both (Model 4). These analyses were made for the material as a whole, but also separately for both genders. (V)

Perceptions of importance of, satisfaction with and ease in talking about sex life with an important other were asked with a Likert-type 7-point scale, but only 3 categories were used in order to avoid small frequencies (Ojanlatva et al. 2003). The item of interest in sex was drawn from Beck's Depression Inventory (Beck et al. 1961). It used 4 response alternatives (no recent change in interest in sex, less interested, much less interested, lost interest completely). (VI)

Respondents were also asked whether or not they neglected to collect their prescription-only medicines from pharmacies, neglected to visit doctors, and neglected to attend for examinations ordered by a doctor due to high prices. Other reasons for neglect were not asked. The background of neglect due to high prices was surveyed by logistic regression analysis in which both CHD groups were combined. The analysis included gender, age group, being at work, basic education, felt state of health, the degree of difficulty of depression, the amount of social support (Sarason et al. 1987), the number of visits to doctors, and chronic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolemia and asthma. (VII)

Statistical significance was tested by  $\chi^2$ -test using the SPSS System for Windows, release 11.5 (III-VII). Conditional logistic regression analyses were made using the SAS System for Windows, release 8.2 (IV-V, VII).

# 9 RESULTS

# 9.1 Feasibility of exercise tests in primary health care (I)

Exercise tests were easily and safely conducted by trained GPs in primary health care. In most cases diagnostic help was obtained from the test. The suspicion of CHD was strengthened in 24% of cases, and the disease was ruled out in 49%. The tests also gave valuable information concerning the need for further examinations.

# 9.2 Diagnostic value of the exercise test in primary health care (II)

Of the test results 11.6% were considered positive and 78.6% negative. The finding was equivocal in 7.2% and the test uninterpretable in 2.6% of cases. The most common reason for an equivocal or uninterpretable test result was an interruption of the exercise test at too low a pulse level.

During the two years' follow-up period two patients had died, both of AMI. One was a 55-year-old woman with an uninterpretable finding in ECG who died one year after the test, the other a 46-year-old man with a negative test finding.

During the follow-up period CHD was diagnosed in six of the patients who did not yield a positive finding in the test (Table 5). Of those with equivocal findings 4.0% were diagnosed as suffering from CHD. The specificity of the test was 87% and sensitivity 81%, when the diagnosis of CHD after the two years' follow-up period is used as gold standard. The positive predictive value was 38% and the negative predictive value 98%. There were altogether 32 CHD patients. Their mean age was 53.6 years (SD 5.0), that of other patients 49.8 years (SD 7.7).

**Table 5.** Diagnosis of coronary heart disease after two years' follow-up in different groups of findings in the exercise test.

	Coronary 1		
Test finding	yes	no	total
Positive	24	16	40
Equivocal	1	24	25
Negative	6	267	273
Uninterpretable	1	9	10
Total	32	316	348

<sup>\*</sup> The two patients who died during the two years' follow-up are included

# 9.3 Occurrence of risk factors (III)

In the angina group one third of subjects and in the infarction group two thirds had elevated cholesterol (Table 6). Half of the angina group and two thirds of the infarction group had elevated blood pressure. Diabetes was not common in the angina group, but concerned one in five in the infarction group. None of these risk factors was so common among controls. In the angina group every third and in the infarction group almost every second was obese. In the angina group more than half and in the infarction group two thirds had had a BMI of at least 27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Among controls about one in three was obese. In both coronary heart disease groups the current average BMI and the average maximal BMI were higher than in the control groups, but only the differences in the average maximal BMI were statistically significant.

More than half in the angina group and almost three fourths in the infarction group had smoked (Table 6). In both groups half had stopped smoking. In this respect they did not differ from the controls. In both coronary heart disease groups one in five reported frequent hangovers, as against about one in six among controls. In both coronary heart disease groups one in twenty reported lifelong sobriety, while in the controls this was rarer. Lack of exercise was also more common among CHD patients than among controls. The difference, however, was statistically significant only between the infarction group and their controls.

**Table 6.** Reported prevalence (%) with statistical significance of risk factors among coronary heart disease (CHD) patients and the control population.

	CHD,	Controls		CHD,	Controls	
	no heart infarcti			ith heart infarct		(
	n = 193-203			n = 133-139		~
	%	%	p-value	%	%	p-value
High cholesterol	38.7	20.4	< 0.001	64.9	24.9	< 0.001
High blood pressure	52.0	34.1	< 0.001	65.2	39.8	< 0.001
Diabetes	7.0	3.1	0.010	18.0	4.9	< 0.001
Obesity *						
– Maximal	60.4	47.2	0.001	69.1	59.5	0.038
Smoking						
<ul> <li>Ever regularl</li> </ul>	y 63.0	52.9	0.010	73.9	58.6	0.001
– Still	32.5	24.6	0.022	37.4	23.9	0.001
Lack of exercise **	29.1	26.1	NS	38.1	29.3	0.045

<sup>\*</sup> BMI  $\geq$  27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>

## 9.4 Symptoms and complaints (IV)

At least mild breathlessness occurred in two thirds of the angina group and in three fourths of the infarction group (Table 7). Severe or extremely serious breathlessness was reported by 20.2% in the angina group and by 27.8% in the infarction group. The corresponding figures in the control groups were 1.4% and 4.0%, the differences also being statistically significant (p<0.001). Chest pain during anger or any kind of emotion, palpitation and perspiration without physical exercise, irregular heart beats and jerking of muscles were all both daily and weekly statistically significantly more common among CHD patients than among controls. CHD patients reported more daytime sleepiness and trembling of hands and voice than controls. CHD patients also slept more poorly than controls, and sleeping hours  $\leq 6$  in 24 hours were more common among them than among controls.

CHD patients scored higher on the depression scale than the controls, the average being 10.2 (95% CI 9.0-11.4) in the angina group and 5.8 (95% CI 5.4-6.2) in the control group. In the infarction group the average score was 9.7 (95% CI 8.4-11.0). The corresponding figure in the control group was 5.9 (95% CI 5.4-6.5). In both coronary heart disease groups at least mild depression was twice as common as among controls.

<sup>\*\*</sup>  $\leq$  2 MET hours daily

In the conditional logistic regression analysis chest pain during anger or other emotions and dyspnea were the symptoms most markedly associated with CHD. Irregular heart beats and perspiration without physical exercise were also strongly associated with heart infarction, but not with CHD without heart infarction. On the other hand, jerking of muscles was strongly associated with CHD without heart infarction, but not with heart infarction.

**Table 7.** Occurrence (%) of symptoms and complaints in coronary heart disease (CHD) patients and the control population.

	CHD	Controls		CHD	Controls	
İ	no heart infarction $n = 177-185$			n = 129-134	tion $n = 516-525$	
	%	%	p	%	%	p
At least mild dyspnea	66.5	33.2	<0.001	75.4	35.3	<0.001
Chest pain during anger of	r emotion					
Almost daily	12.2	1.0	< 0.001	16.3	0.8	< 0.001
Weekly	12.8	2.5	< 0.001	16.3	3.3	< 0.001
Palpitation without physic	cal exercise					
Almost daily	14.1	3.4	< 0.001	20.8	3.5	< 0.001
Weekly	15.3	5.2	< 0.001	16.9	5.4	< 0.001
Perspiration without phys	ical exercise					
Almost daily	22.7	9.7	< 0.001	26.0	11.0	< 0.001
Weekly	18.2	10.2	0.003	16.8	8.3	0.001
Irregular heart beats						
Almost daily	15.7	3.5	< 0.001	24.0	3.7	< 0.001
Weekly	12.4	6.1	0.004	14.0	4.4	< 0.001
Depression (Beck $\geq 10$ )	41.6	20.4	< 0.001	43.3	21.0	< 0.001
Sleeping hours $\leq 6$ in a da	ıy 16.8	10.3	0.015	9.4	10.1	0.003
Poor sleep	25.0	15.4	0.002	32.1	13.0	< 0.001
Daytime sleepiness						
Almost daily	33.2	11.2	< 0.001	32.1	14.9	< 0.001
Trembling of hands						
Almost daily	13.8	2.3	< 0.001	9.2	3.3	0.004
Weekly	8.3	4.7	0.053	10.7	4.0	0.003
Trembling of voice						
Almost daily	3.3	1.1	0.030	5.3	1.2	0.002
Weekly	3.3	1.2	0.049	3.8	2.3	0.341
Jerking of muscles						
Almost daily	13.7	2.7	< 0.001	12.3	4.4	0.001
Weekly	11.5	2.7	<0.001	9.2	3.8	0.011

# 9.5 Childhood adversities (V)

The most common childhood adversities were long-lasting financial difficulties in the family and someone in the family having been seriously or chronically ill. Almost half of the CHD patients reported these, whereas among controls over 10 percentage points fewer reported the same. One in three had experienced serious conflicts and someone in the family had problems with alcohol. Among controls 7 to 8 percentage points fewer reported this. One in five had often been afraid of some member in the family, this against 6 percentage points fewer among controls. Parents' divorce had been only slightly more common among CHD patients than among controls, the difference being statistically not significant.

When looking at the material as a whole, odds ratios for coronary heart disease were statistically significant except in parental divorce, indicating that subjects with childhood adversities suffered a higher proportion of CHD (Table 8). Odds ratios for having often been afraid of some family member, serious conflicts in the family, and someone having had problems with alcohol were higher among women than among men. In contrast, long-lasting financial difficulties in the family were statistically significant only among men.

Adjustment with education (Model 2) had no influence among women, whereas among men only someone in the family having been seriously or chronically ill was statistically significant. Adjusting with conventional risk factors for CHD (Model 3) someone in the family having been seriously or chronically ill was statistically significant in both genders. In addition, long-lasting financial difficulties in the family were a statistically significant factor among men. With adjustment for both education and conventional risk factors (Model 4) only someone in the family having been seriously or chronically ill remained statistically significant in both genders.

**Table 8.** ORs with 95% CI of childhood adversities in the conditional logistic analysis for coronary heart disease without and with adjustment for conventional risk factors [smoking, obesity ( $MBI \ge 27$ ), and hypertension], education, and both of them. Statistically significant differences are bolded.

		ORs (95% CI)					
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4			
Parents divorced	1.32 (0.89 – 1.98)	1.27 (0.85 – 1.90)	1.35 (0.88 – 2.09)	1.32 (0.85 – 2.04)			
Long-lasting financial difficulties in the family	1.52 (1.15 - 2.02)	1.39 (1.04 – 1.85)	1.44 (1.05 – 1.97)	1.33(0.96-1.84)			
Serious conflicts in the family	1.46(1.08-1.97)	1.45 (1.07 – 1.97)	1.22(0.87-1.71)	1.20(0.85-1.70)			
Often afraid of some member of the family	2.04(1.43 - 2.92)	1.87 (1.30 - 2.70)	1.60 (1.08 - 2.37)	1.46(0.98 - 2.18)			
Someone in the family seriously or chronically ill	1.70 (1.31 - 2.20)	1.64 (1.26 - 2.13)	1.79 (1.34 – 2.38)	1.76 (1.32 – 2.35)			
Someone in the family had problems with alcohol	1.55 (1.15 – 2.09)	1.48(1.01 - 2.01)	1.39 (0.998 – 1.93)	1.34 (0.96 – 1.88)			

Model 1: Age- and sex-adjusted

Model 2: Age- and sex-adjusted and adjusted also for education

Model 3: Age- and sex-adjusted and adjusted also for conventional risk factors (smoking, obesity and hypertension)

Model 4: Age- and sex-adjusted and adjusted also for both conventional risk factors and education

### 9.6 Sex life issues (VI)

More than 50% of the male angina patients and their controls perceived sex life as important. In the heart infarction groups one in three among women and almost 50% among men felt the same. Among controls the proportions were higher, the differences being statistically significant. Satisfaction with sex life was only slightly less evident in the CHD groups than among their respective controls (non-significant). A half of the patients in the CHD groups and their control groups found it easy and one in three fairly easy to talk about sex life.

The proportions of men and women who had expressed no recent change in interest in sex were significantly lower in the heart infarction groups than in the control groups (Table 9). In the angina group, on the other hand, the proportion was significantly lower only among men. Among women, one in five of the heart infarction group lost interest in sex completely. In this respect there was no statistical difference between women in the angina group and controls. It was quite rare for men to lose interest in sex entirely.

**Table 9.** Proportions (%) of responses to questions on interest in sex (libido) by coronary heart disease patients and their respective controls. Statistical significance was tested by  $\chi^2$ -test. Statistically significant differences in bold.

	CHD, no heart infarction					CHD, with h	eart infarction	on
	Women		Men		Women		Men	
	Patients n=82	Controls n=329	Patients n=102	Controls n=405	Patients n=29	Controls n=113	Patients n=104	Controls n=410
No recent change in interest in sex	51.2	54.1	61.8	71.1	38.0	61.9	54.8	68.7
Less interested in sex	32.9	35.5	25.5	25.7	31.0	29.2	32.7	26.6
Much less interested in sex	7.3	6.4	12.7	2.5	10.3	8.0	10.6	3.2
Lost interest in sex completely	8.6	4.0	0.0	0.7	20.7	0.9	1.9	1.5
	p=	0.368	p<	0.001	p<	0.001	p=	0.004

### 9.7 Commitment to treatment (VII)

One in six CHD patients had neglected to visit a doctor due to high prices during the previous year. Among controls this decision was made by less than one in ten (Table 10). High prices were likewise the reason for neglect to collect prescription-only medicines (also other than heart medication) from pharmacies among one in six CHD patients. Among controls this figure was clearly smaller. Approximately one in ten CHD patients had neglected to attend for examinations prescribed by a doctor due to high prices. Among controls this was rare.

A low level of education was clearly associated with neglect of care due to high prices among both CHD groups. In the angina group the less educated neglected visits to doctors more than controls (18% vs. 9%, p=0.002) likewise, collecting prescription-only medicines from pharmacies (15% vs. 5%, p<0.001), and attending for examinations ordered by a doctor (7% vs. 2%, p=0.005). In the infarction group, correspondingly, less educated neglected more than controls collecting prescription-only medicines (18% vs. 4%, p<0.001), and attending for examinations ordered by a doctor (11% vs. 2%, p<0.001), but with respect to neglect of visits to doctors there was no statistically significant difference (16% vs. 10%, p=0.067). Among those who had passed the matriculation examination none of the above-mentioned differences was statistically significant in either of the CHD groups.

Not being employed was a significant underlying factor in neglect of care. Depression also increased the tendency to neglect care. The impact was, however, statistically significant among those who suffered from serious depression with respect to attending for examinations ordered by a doctor. The age group 30–34 years was also associated with neglect of examinations ordered by a doctor. In contrast, estimation of state of health, the amount of social support and the number of visits to doctors did not make any difference. Of chronic diseases hypertension was statistically significantly associated with neglect of examinations ordered by a doctor due to high prices. Asthma was associated with neglect of both attendance for examinations ordered by a doctor and collection of prescription-only medicines from pharmacies due to high prices.

**Table 10.** Proportion (%) of patients with coronary heart disease and controls who during the previous year had neglected to visit a doctor due to high prices, to collect prescribed medicines from pharmacies, and to attend for examinations ordered by a doctor.

	CHD,	Controls		CHD, With heart infarct	Controls	
	n = 182	n = 731-736	6 p	n = 132-133	n = 520-523	3 p
Visit to doctors	17.6	8.6	<0.001	14.4	9.2	0.077
Collect prescription-o	•					
from pharmacies  Attend for examination	14.3	4.9	<0.001	17.4	3.8	<0.001
ordered by a doctor		2.1	<0.001	10.5	2.1	<0.001

# 10 DISCUSSION

#### 10.1 Exercise tests

#### 10.1.1 Feasibility of exercise tests

The rationale for exercise testings by GPs in primary health care is well grounded. The equipment is available and personnel can be trained. There are also many patients suitable for the test. Well-functioning co-operation with hospital clinics creates the bases. In most cases the exercise test has proved its usefulness in the diagnosis of CHD.

The exercise tests can be carried out by health care centres themselves serving a defined population of more than 30 000 at fairly quite low costs. Conducted by trained GPs in cases where CHD is suspected it may also predict clinical outcome.

#### 10.1.2 Strengths and weaknesses

The exercise test study material can be considered representative for examining the diagnostic value of the tests carried out in primary health care. It consisted of all working-aged patients examined by exercise test at the same health centre during three years. The two years' follow-up period was also reasonably long enough to reveal possible false interpretations in the evaluation of test results. There were excellent opportunities in the health centre for follow-up, since an electronic record of case history was available for all patients. In addition to this, all summary reports on patients sent to hospital and to private cardiologists were found in the archives of the health centre. The fact that interpretation of findings was based on a personal conception may be considered a limitation, although changes in ST-segments in the ECG and the occurrence of chest pain during testing were the basis.

The gold standard for the exercise test is coronary angiography, at least in patients without clinically diagnosed myocardial infarction. For practical reasons (because it was not possible to refer all examined patients to this invasive and expensive examination), we had to use the two years' follow-up as a reference

examination. In the GPs' work the precept 'wait and see' is a commonly used tool in the treatment of patients. We must bear in mind that we did not know whether or not the patients examined had the disease at the moment of the exercise test.

#### 10.1.3 Comparison with previous studies

The justification for exercise testing in primary health care has been observed in another Finnish study (Jauhiainen et al. 2001). Especially in excluding coronary heart disease among the working-aged population it provides valuable information. The principal finding in the present study was that a negative finding in an exercise test conducted by trained GPs for working-aged people in primary health care appeared to be valid. Only 2% of patients yielding a negative finding suffered from coronary heart disease after two years. Even taking into consideration the man who yielded a negative finding and subsequently died of a myocardial infarction, the negative predictive value of the test was as high as 98%. This fits well with the recent observation that the test had led to a diagnostic finding in 77% of cases, most of the findings having been negative (Nilsson et al. 2003). In contrast, the positive predictive value of the test is not good. After the follow-up period a diagnosis of CHD was reached in only slightly over half of those yielding a positive finding.

Even though the exercise test is a good tool in diagnosing CHD, the Bayes theorem should be kept in mind when assessing the effectiveness of the test (Diamond and Forrester 1979, Detrano et al. 1984). If the pre-test probability of coronary disease is small, as in most cases in working aged people with atypical chest pain, the diagnostic value of a non-invasive test is negligible (Kettunen 2000). According to this theorem the number of false positive findings correlates negatively, and that of false negative findings positively to the prevalence of CHD in the population the person examined belongs to. When calculating predictive values as well as specificity and sensitivity it was reasonable to combine positive and equivocal findings, since in respect of further measures and treatment they were approached in more or less the same way.

# 10.2 The HeSSup data

#### 10.2.1 Data collection

The HeSSup data were collected by mailed survey. The lack of full participation in such inquires threatens the value of the survey method (Groves et al. 1992). There is in fact no safe level of response rates below 100% (Sheikh and

Mattingly 1981). It has been stated that low rates of response to mailed health surveys may result in overestimating the utilisation of the health services (Etter and Perneger 1997). However, the HeSSup study material may be considered representative of the Finnish working-aged population, eventhough the response rate was only 39%. According to a careful non-response analysis of the HeSSup study material respondents and non-respondents were comparable in respect of most important demographic variables (Korkeila et al. 2001). Divorced, widowed, unemployed and those with less education, as well as men in general, were less likely to respond than expected from general population data. These features have also been reported in earlier studies (Barton et al. 1980, Cottler et al. 1987, van den Akker et al. 1998). In spite of the careful non-response analysis it has to be admitted that the response rate was rather low. Since on the other hand it is very common for response rates to postal questionnaires to remain low, in this respect our rate may be considered as expected.

#### 10.2.2 Strengths and weaknesses

The findings reflect the respondents' own conception of their symptoms. This must be considered important, since according to findings from a 3 years' follow-up of 4,000 men, self-reported coronary heart disease predicts a new coronary event (Koskenvuo et al. 1988). In addition, the presence of anginal symptoms may be an important independent correlate of prognosis in patients with CHD (Cohn et al. 1981). Among outpatients with CAD, self-reported anginal symptoms consistently predict mortality irrespective of differences in age, race, education or clinical comorbidities (Mozaffarian et al. 2003). On the other hand, one American study found no association between self-reported angina pectoris and objective evidence of inducible ischemia (Gehi et al. 2003).

It is possible that CHD patients will respond to a questionnaire more actively than others. On the other hand, there are those CHD patients who neglect their disease and will not be willing to respond. It may be assumed that these two factors compensate each other and that the proportions are reliable. The findings between CHD patients and individuals in the controls groups were in this respect considered to be realistic.

It is obvious that there are those among the CHD patients of the present material who in fact do not have the disease. It is also probable that some of the findings, e.g. some complaints, concern especially these persons. The appearance of so-called false-positive CHD patients thus reduces the reliability of the findings. However, subjects who have answered yes to the questions concerning angina pectoris or heart infarction have the impression of suffering from CHD. They may have misunderstood what their doctor has said to them, or perhaps the very suspicion of the disease has given them a false impression. Very likely they act as if they were CHD patients and make their decisions accordingly. It is thus possible that they make arrangements concerning their jobs or free time, e.g. reduce their physical exercise for fear of chest pain.

In any case, GPs are the first-line physicians who meet patients with their health problems. GPs undoubtedly know that there are false-positive cases among patients having the conception of suffering from CHD. Nevertheless, in primary health care patients' notions must be taken seriously. This was also the approach of the HeSSup study in the matter. It emphasises the subjects' own conceptions.

The HeSSup study patients had given written consent for the use of register data. Unfortunately the data were not yet available. The sample is in any case to be followed-up for several years, and it will thus be possible to combine our material with data from the Social Insurance Institution. Thereafter we will know how many medically considered false positive-findings our sample comprised. This actually provides a new challenge for further research.

#### 10.2.3 Special features of CHD among working-aged population

#### 10.2.3.1 Risk factors and secondary prevention

There are European consensus and national guidelines on ideal risk factor levels and treatment procedures. According to our findings, however, secondary prevention of the disease has been disappointing, a circumstance also recognised in other studies (Boersma et al. 2003, Wright et al. 2003, Mayer et al. 2004). Coronary heart patients, despite having survived a life-threatening clinical event, also appear to have maintained adverse behaviors such as smoking, being obese and having frequent hangovers more than the control population. Our study also confirms previous finding that a large proportion of Finnish patients having had a coronary event continue smoking (Järvi 2001). Clearly the health care system has not succeeded in the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease when the issue is considered from the population standpoint.

#### 10.2.3.2 Symptoms and complaints

According to the present findings many working-aged coronary heart disease patients are depressed and sleep poorly. They also suffer from day-time sleepiness. These findings fit well with those in other studies (Partinen et al. 1982, Denollet 1994, Lehto et al. 2000, Rudisch and Nemeroff 2003). In addition, working-aged CHD patients suffer from palpitation and perspiration without physical exercise, trembling of hands and voice, as well as jerking of muscles. The wide spectrum of symptoms and complaints may be considered an interesting new finding.

Working-aged CHD patients may be regarded as a special group compared with the main body of CHD patients, who are already by age entitled to a pension. Working-aged CHD patients have often experienced the hardest and most widespread exposure to risk factors, which has caused them coronary heart disease among the first within their age group. Being of working age they are expected, however, to return to normal life and work as soon as possible. According to our study they still have abundant symptoms limiting their every day life and hampering their recovery and rehabilitation. Although we have not used validated instruments to assess quality of life (Hunt and McEwan 1980, Ware and Sherbourne 1992, Spertus et al. 1995), we can say that the quality of life of many working-aged CHD patients is not very good. Instead we used questions such as those concerning dyspnea, which have been successfully used in cardiovascular surveys (Rose and Blackburn 1968) and in the Finnish Twin Cohort Study (Hublin et al. 2001). In addition, mood was estimated according Beck's depression scale (Beck et al. 1961). It is noteworthy that many of these symptoms are not only irritating, but constitute a threat to health. The follow-up of the HeSSup cohort will show to what extent the symptoms we found are indicators of increased risk of CHD among working-aged people and to what extent the symptoms are a result of CHD and its care.

#### 10.2.3.3 Childhood adversities

CHD patients have experienced significantly more childhood adversities than other people. Life events during childhood include not only family problems but also financial problems as well as matters of personal safety. It is also noteworthy that many of the adversities in question seem to be associated with coronary heart disease, since they are quite independent of traditional risk factors such as smoking, hypertension and obesity. This matter has not been widely studied, but there are some papers reporting parallel findings. In Finland socioeconomic state in childhood has been found to be significantly associated with ischemic heart disease in middle-aged men (Kaplan and Salonen 1990). In one recent study a dose-response relation of adverse childhood events such as abuse, neglect and household dysfunction to ischemic heart disease has been found (Dong et al. 2004).

Special attention should be paid to the accumulation of these risk factors in the primary prevention of CHD. This cannot, however, be solved at doctors' offices. At the most GPs can focus their suspicion of CHD on patients reporting childhood adversities. In order to increase the welfare of the community, to prevent people from marginalisation, to avoid children's sense of insecurity, and to minimise problems caused by alcohol, a health-promoting social policy is of vital importance.

#### 10.2.3.4 Sex life issues

Both the importance of sex life and interest in sex tended to decrease as a result of a myocardial infarction among both men and women. Our findings support those in an Israeli study where the decrease in frequency of and satisfaction with sexual activity after a myocardial infarction was similar among women and men (Drory et al. 2000). In agreement with a finding of previously published research (Ojanlatva et al. 2003), the men in the present study perceived sex life as more important than did women, whereas women were generally more satisfied with it than men were. Regardless of a life-threatening disease, most CHD patients in the present study held on to their interest in sex. They should further be encouraged to pursue sex life and general practitioners should be proactive in bringing up the topic. Professional skills should be used to exploit the opportunities, discuss the issue and lead these patients back to normal life.

#### 10.2.3.5 Commitment to treatment

Coronary heart disease is considered a life-threatening illness which impairs functional capacity. Poor compliance with therapy must be regarded as a serious threat to the wellbeing of CHD patients. It is possible that the level of income of subjects who neglect care is lower than the average. Incomes were not, however, inquired after, and it may be understandable that high prices constitute a more important consideration for them in neglect of treatment. It has namely been found that low level of education is associated with health behavior and a greater number of risk factors (Salomaa et al. 2003). Nonetheless, use of expensive prescription-only medicines should not be a problem for a normal citizen, since the Social Insurance Institution reimburses costs exceeding a specific sum in a year. In addition, medicines against CHD are reimbursed by 75%. For some CHD patients the prices are nevertheless a real problem, which should be taken into consideration when planning treatment. In any case CHD patients in Finland are within their own group in an unequal position: the need for care is greatest among workers and the less educated, whereas clerical workers and the well educated get treatment more easily (Keskimäki et al 2004). In addition, although the overall rate of coronary revascularisations has increased during the last few decades, socioeconomic and gender inequalities have persisted in the use of cardiac operations relative to need (Hetemaa et al. 2003).

Because only a few of the CHD patients neglecting medication used antidepressants, which are quite expensive, it may be assumed that the medicines they considered expensive are those against hypertension and hypercholesterolemia. In this respect our results fit well with a finding in a previous study that statin therapy for CHD patients should be intensified (Saaristo et al. 2000). In our study the use of lipid-lowering drugs was not asked. The study material thus gives no possibilities to assess what medicines against other diseases had been neglected.

The findings of poor commitment to treatment may in general be considered new. It has been difficult to find other studies on this matter. The poor commitment to treatment among working-aged CHD patients constitutes a substantial challenge to Finnish health care.

# 10.3 Implications for clinical practice

There are no studies in Finland concerning the outcome of exercise tests carried out on patients with a low pre-test probability of CHD. In primary health care it is of vital importance to make the diagnostics of CHD effective. Here the exercise test is a useful tool, and it should be easily available in primary health care. In addition, the test is cost-effective and particularly safe. Motivated GPs can take special training for the tests and perform them in addition to their normal duties. Health centres in Finland may also co-operate in testing and may thus serve a large population and comply with minimum safety and performance guidelines for exercise stress testing.

Coronary heart disease among working-aged patients is a complex problem. Although this life-threatening disease has moved to older age groups, working-aged CHD patients may be regarded as a group of special interest and prognostic significance. Their conception of suffering from the disease has to be taken seriously, especially when associated with one or more risk factors. Individual GPs should learn to treat CHD patients as a whole. Many aspects of the subject must be taken into consideration in primary health care in order to make the diagnostics and secondary prevention of CHD more effective, to improve the well-being and ability to act of the patients, and to achieve good commitment to treatment. It is therefore essential for GPs to support these patients and protect them from making wrong decisions in their lives. The problems cannot, however, always be solved in doctors' offices. In primary health care it is desirable that GPs take the initiative when co-operation with society is needed. All of these aspects must be considered in order to improve the quality of life of working-aged coronary heart disease patients.

# 11 CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Exercise tests can be sensibly carried out by trained GPs in general practice, and the test is a useful diagnostic tool.
- 2. The predictive value of a negative finding in an exercise test carried out by GPs in primary health care is very high among the working-aged population. With a negative finding in this test GPs can predict clinical outcome in general practice.
- 3. The health care system has not succeeded satisfactorily in secondary prevention of coronary heart disease among the working-aged population.
- 4. Working-aged people with self-reported coronary heart disease evince a number of symptoms limiting their everyday life, and almost one in three of them perceive their health as poor or rather poor.
- 5. Working-aged coronary heart disease patients will have experienced significantly more childhood adversities than other people.
- 6. The importance of sex life and interest in sex tend to decrease as a result of a myocardial infarction among working-aged coronary heart disease patients.
- 7. Many working-aged coronary heart disease patients, especially those not working, neglect to collect their medicines from pharmacies and to visit doctors due to high prices.

# 12 ACKOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Medical School in the University of Tampere during the years 1999-2005. The clinical part of the study was carried at Kangasala Health Centre.

I want to express my deepest gratitude and respect to my supervisor Professor Kari Mattila for providing me the opportunity to carry out this study. It was my great privilege to prepare this dissertation under his wise, understanding and encouraging guidance. He has always found the time for discussions on how to continue my work.

I also wish to express my gratitude to my official reviewers, Professor Antti Reunanen and Docent Raimo Kettunen, for their thorough review, constructive remarks and valuable corrections to my thesis.

My warmest and most sincere thanks belong to Professor Markku Koskenvuo, head of the HeSSup Study, for his invaluable advice in solving problems I often faced. After our monthly meetings at the Department of Public Health, University of Turku, I was always more confident in the success of my undertaking.

I wish to thank Docent Päivi Rautava and MD, PhD Sakari Suominen for their advice and help. Many times this advice was crucial in getting manuscripts accepted. I also want to thank Docent Pirjo Immonen-Räihä and Docent Ansa Ojanlatva for their notable contribution.

I wish to express my thanks to B.Sc. Jari Sundell and student of statistics Lauri Sillanmäki for their excellent work in the statistics of the study.

At the beginning of my research work I received valuable instruction from Professor Irma Virjo and Doris Holmberg-Marttila MD, PhD, to whom I here express my warmest thanks.

For careful reviewing the language of the work I wish to thank Mr. Robert Mac Gilleon, M.A. I also wish to thank Mrs. Marita Hallila for her help in transforming the manuscript into a pdf-version.

I am grateful to my former superiors at the Kangasala Health Centre, Medical Counsellor Toivo Rintamäki, Mauri Jussila MD, and Heikki Hinkka MD, PhD for providing me fine opportunities to carry out the clinical part of the study. I also thank MD Pertti Tuominen for his valuable advice.

All my great colleagues at the Kangasala Health Centre also deserve my gratitude. I have been touched by their interest in the progress of my research work. I am also greatful to Mrs. Riitta Ranta, the computing operator in Kangasala Health Centre, for picking out the exercise test patients from the electronic files of our health centre.

Finally, I owe my deepest gratitude to my parents, Maija-Liisa and Pertti Sumanen, for their continuous help and support in all fields of my life. Most of all, I thank my dear wife Kirsi and my children Matias, Merika and Aleksi for their understanding and love during these years when I have concentrated on research work.

The study was financially supported by the Medical Research Fund of Tampere University Hospital, and the Finnish Cultural Foundation of Pirkanmaa.

# 13 REFERENCES

- Andrade SE, Walker AM, Gottlieb LK, Hollenberg NK, Testa MA, Saperia GM, Platt R (1995): Discontinuation of antihyperlipidemic drugs--do rates reported in clinical trials reflect rates in primary care settings? N Engl J Med 332(17):1125–1131.
- Angerer P, Siebert U, Kothny W, Muhlbauer D, Mudra H, von Schacky C (2000): Impact of social support, cynical hostility and anger expression on progression of coronary atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 36(6):1781–1788.
- Arinen S, Häkkinen U, Klaukka T, Klavus J, Lehtonen R, Aro S (1998): Health and the Use of Health of Services in Finland. Main findings of the Finnish Health Care Survey 1995/96 and changes from 1987. STAKES.
- Aromaa A, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Knekt P, Maatela J, Joukamaa M, Klaukka T, Lehtinen V, Melkas T, Mälkiä E, Nyman K, Paunio I, Reunanen A, Sievers K, Kalimo E, Kallio V (1989): Health, functional limitations and need for care in Finland. Basic results from the Mini-Finland Health Survey (in Finnish). The Social Insurance Institution AL:32, Helsinki and Turku.
- Aronow HD, Topol EJ, Roe MT, Houghtaling PL, Wolski KE, Lincoff AM, Harrington RA, Califf RM, Ohman NS, Kleiman NS, Keltai M, Wilcox RG, Vaharian A, Armstrong PW, Lauer MS (2001): Effect of lipid-lowering therapy on early mortality after acute coronary syndromes: an observational study. Lancet 357(9262):1063–1068.
- Ashley A, Myers J, Froelicher V (2000): Exercise testing in clinical medicine. Lancet 356:1592–1597.
- Asplund R, Åberg H (1998): Sleep and cardiac symptoms amongst women aged 40-64 years. J Intern Med 243(3):209–213.
- Ayas NT, White DP, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Speizer FE, Malhotra A, Hu FB (2003): A prospective study of sleep duration and coronary heart disease in women. Arch Intern Med 163(2):205–209.
- Balkau B, Shipley M, Jarrett RJ, Pyörälä K, Pyörälä M, Forhan A, Eschwege E (1998): High blood glucose concentration is a risk factor for mortality in middle-aged nondiabetic men. 20-year follow-up in the Whitehall Study, the Paris Prospective Study, and the Helsinki Policemen Study. Diabetes Care 21(3):360–367.
- Barefoot JC, Helms MJ, Mark DB, Blumenthal JA, Califf RM, Haney TL, O'Connor CM, Siegler IC, Williams RB (1996): Depression and long-term mortality risk in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 78:613–617.
- Barth J, Schumacher M, Herrmann-Lingen C (2004): Depression as a risk factor for mortality in patients with coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 66(6):802–813.
- Barton J, Bain C, Hennekens CH, Rosner B, Belanger C, Roth A, Speizer FE (1980): Characteristics of respondents and non-respondents to a mailed questionnaire. Am J Public Health 70(8):823–825.
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J (1961): An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiat 4:54–63.
- Bengtsson C, Björkelund C, Lapidus L, Lissner L (1993): Associations of serum lipid concentrations and obesity with mortality in women: 20 year follow up of

- participants in prospective population study in Gothenburg, Sweden. BMJ 307(6916):1385–1388.
- Benetos A, Thomas F, Bean K, Gautier S, Smulyan H, Guize L (2002): Prognostic value of systolic and diastolic blood pressure in treated hypertensive men. Arch Intern Med 162(5):577–581.
- Bergman E, Berterö C (2001): You can do it if you set your mind to it: a qualitative study of patients with coronary artery disease. J Adv Nurs 36(6):733–741.
- Berlin JA, Colditz GA (1990): A meta-analysis of physical activity in the prevention of coronary heart disease. Am J Epidemiol 132(4):612–628.
- Bethell H (1998): Managing established coronary heart disease. Coronary heart disease should be recognised as chronic progressive condition. BMJ 316(7127):309.
- Boersma E, Keil U, De Bacquer D, De Backer G, Pyörälä K, Poldermans D, Leprotti C, Pilotto L, de Swart E, Deckers JW, Heidrich J, Sans S, Kotseva K, Wood D, Ambrosio GB; EUROASPIRE I and II Study Groups (2003): Blood pressure is insufficiently controlled in European patients with established coronary heart disease. J Hypertens 21(10):1831–1840.
- Borghi C, Dormi, A, Ambrosioni E, Gaddi A (2002): Relative role of systolic, diastolic and pulse pressure as risk factors for cardiovascular events in the Brisighella Heart Study. J Hypertens 20(9):1737–1742.
- Bowker TJ, Clayton TC, Ingham J, McLennan NR, Hobson HL, Pyke SD, Schofield B, Wood DA (1996): A British Cardiac Society survey of the potential for the secondary prevention of coronary disease: ASPIRE (Action on Secondary Prevention through Intervention to Reduce Events). Heart 75(4):334–342.
- Bradley F, Morgan S, Smith H, Mant D (1997): Preventive care for patients following myocardial infarction. The Wessex Research Network (WReN). Fam Pract 14(3):220–226.
- Broedl UC, Geiss HC, Parhofer KG (2003): Comparison of current guidelines for primary prevention of coronary heart disease: risk assessment and lipid-lowering therapy. J Gen Intern Med 18(3):190–195.
- Brown N, Melville M, Gray D, Young T, Munro J, Skene AM, Hampton JR (1999): Quality of life four years after acute myocardial infarction: short form 36 scores compared with a normal population. Heart 81(4):352–358.
- Campbell NC, Thain J, Deans HG, Ritchie LD, Rawles JM (1998): Secondary prevention in coronary heart disease: baseline survey of provision in general practice. BMJ 316(7142):1430–1434.
- Campbell NC, Thain J, Deans HG, Ritchie LD, Rawles JM, Squair JL (1998): Secondary prevention clinics for coronary heart disease: randomised trial of effect on health. BMJ 316(7142):1434–1437.
- Caro J, Klittich W, McGuire A, Ford I, Norrie J, Pettitt D, McMurray J, Shepherd J (1997): The West of Scotland coronary prevention study: economic benefit analysis of primary prevention with pravastatin. BMJ 315(7122):1577–1584.
- Cleeman JI (1997): Adults aged 20 and older should have their cholesterol measured. Am J Med 102(2A):31–36.
- Cohn PF, Harris P, Barry WH, Rosati RA, Rosenbaum P, Waternaux C (1981): Prognostic importance of anginal symptoms in angiographically defined coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 47(2):233–237.
- Connerney I, Shapiro PA, McLaughlin JS, Bagiella E, Sloan RP (2001): Relation between depression after coronary artery bypass surgery and 12-month outcome: a prospective study. Lancet 358(9295):1766–1771.
- Cottler LB, Zipp JF, Robins LN, Spitznagel EL (1987): Difficult-to-recruit respondents and their effect on prevalence estimates in an epidemiologic survey. Am J Epidemiol 125(2):329–339.

- Critchley J, Capewell S (2003): Smoking cessation for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (4):CD003041.
- Danielsson B, Åberg H, Strender LE (2000): Evaluation of changes in public interest concerning lipids and other cardiovascular risk factors between 1990 and 1995. Scand J Prim Health Care 18(3):183–187.
- Darrow MD (1999): Ordering and understanding the exercise stress test. Am Fam Physician 59(2):401–410.
- Daviglus ML, Liu K, Greenland P, Dyer AR, Garside DB, Manheim L, Lowe LP, Rodin M, Lubitz J, Stamler J (1998): Benefit of a favorable cardiovascular risk-factor profile in middle age with respect to Medicare costs. N Engl J Med 339(16):1122–1129.
- De Bacquer D, De Backer G, Ostor E, Simon J, Pyörälä K (2003): EUROASPIRE I Study Group. Predictive value of classical risk factors and their control in coronary patients: a follow-up of the EUROASPIRE I cohort. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rahabil 10(4):289–295.
- De Backer G, Ambrosioni E, Borch-Johnsen K, Brotons C, Cifkova R, Dallongeville J, Ebrahim S, Faergeman O, Graham I, Mancia G, Manger Cats V, Orth-Gomer K, Perk J, Pyörälä K, Rodicio JL, Sans S, Sansoy V, Sechtem U, Silber S, Thomsen T, Wood D (2003): European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Third Joint Task Force of European and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. Eur Heart J 24(17):1601–1610.
- DeBusk RF (2000): Evaluating the cardiovascular tolerance for sex. Am J Cardiol 86(2A):51F–56F.
- Denollet J (1994). Health complaints and outcome assessment in coronary heart disease. Psychosom Med 56(5):463–474.
- Detrano R, Yiannikas J, Salcedo EE, Rincon G, Go RT, Williams G, Leatherman J (1984): Bayesian probability analysis: a prospective demonstration of its clinical utility in diagnosing coronary disease. Circulation 69(3):541–547.
- Diamond GA, Forrester JS (1979): Analysis of probability as an aid in the clinical diagnosis of coronary-artery disease. N Engl J Med:300(24):1350–1358.
- Doll R, Peto R (1976): Mortality in relation to smoking: 20 years' observations on male British doctors. BMJ 2(6051):1525–1536.
- Dong M, Giles WH, Felitti VJ, Dube SR, Williams JE, Chapman DP, Anda RF (2004): Insights into causal pathways for ischemic heart disease: adverse childhood experiences study. Circulation 110(13):1761–1766.
- Drory Y, Kravetz S, Weingarten M (2000): Comparison of sexual activity of women and men after a first acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 85(11):1283–1287.
- Elford J, Whincup P, Shaper AG (1991): Early life experience and adult cardiovascular disease: longitudinal and case-control studies. Int J Epidemiol 20(4):833–844.
- Etter JF, Perneger TV (1997): Analysis of non-response bias in a mailed health survey. J Clin Epidemiol 50(10):1123–1128.
- EUROASPIRE. A European Society of Cardiology survey of secondary prevention of coronary heart disease: principal results. EUROASPIRE Study Group. European Action on Secondary Prevention through Intervention to Reduce Events (1997): Eur Heart J 18(10):1569–1582.
- EUROASPIRE I and II Group; European Action on Secondary Prevention by Intervention to Reduce Events (2001): Clinical reality of coronary prevention guidelines: a comparison of EUROASPIRE I and II in nine countries. EUROASPIRE I and II Group. European Action on Secondary Prevention by Intervention to Reduce Events. Lancet 357(9261):972–973.
- Evans CH, Ellestad MH (1994): A basic approach to the interpretation of the exercise test. Prim Care 21(3):475–493.

- Feldman HA, Johannes CB, Derby CA, Kleinman KP, Mohr BA, Araujo AB, McKinlay JB (2000): Erectile dysfunction and coronary risk factors: prospective results from the Massachusetts male aging study. Prev Med 30(4):328–338.
- Field K, Thorogood M, Silagy C, Normand C, O'Neill C, Muir J (1995): Strategies for reducing coronary risk factors in primary care: which is most cost effective? BMJ 310(6987):1109–1112.
- Flanagan DE, Cox P, Paine D, Davies J, Armitage M (1999): Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in primary care: a healthy heart initiative. QJM 92(5):245–250.
- Foxton J (2003): CHD prevention: the importance of identifying dyslipidaemia. Br J Nurs 12(16):950–958.
- Franklin SS, Larson MG, Khan SA, Wong ND, Leip EP, Kannel WB, Levy D (2001): Does the relation of blood pressure to coronary heart disease risk change with aging? The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 103(9):1245–1249.
- Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance, F Talajic, M (1993): Depression following myocardial infarction: Impact on 6-month survival. JAMA 270(15):1819–1825.
- Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M (1995): Depression and 18-month prognosis after myocardial infarction. Circulation 91:999–1005.
- Froelicher VF, Duarte GM, Oakes DF, Klein J, Dubach PA, Janosi A (1988): The prognostic value of the exercise test. Dis Mon 34(11):677–735.
- Froelicher VF, Lehmann KG, Thomas R, Goldman S, Morrison D, Edson R, Lavori P, Myers J, Dennis C, Shabetai R, Do D, Froning J (1989): The electrocardiographic exercise test in a population with reduced workup bias: diagnostic performance, computerized interpretation, and multivariable prediction. Ann Intern Med 128:965–974.
- Fuller JH, Shipley MJ, Rose G, Jarrett RJ, Keen H (1980): Coronary-heart-disease risk and impaired glucose tolerance. The Whitehall study. Lancet 1(8183):1373–1376.
- Garber AM. Cholesterol screening should be targeted (1997): Am J Med 102(2A):26-30.
- Garber AM, Browner WS, Hulley SB (1996): Cholesterol screening in asymptomatic adults, revisited. Part 2. Ann Intern Med 124(5):518–531.
- Gaw A (2002): Primary prevention: a simple, effective means of risk reduction. Int J Clin Pract Suppl (130):6–12.
- Gehi AK, Rumsfeld JS, Liu H, Schiller NB, Whooley MA (2003): Relation of self-reported angina pectoris to inducible myocardial ischemia in patients with known coronary artery disease: the Heart and Soul Study. Am J Cardiol 92(6):705–707.
- Gensini GF, Comeglio M, Colella A (1998): Classical risk factors and emerging elements in the risk profile for coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J 19 Suppl A:53-61.
- Gianrossi R, Detrano R, Mulvihill D, Lehmann K, Dubach P, Colombo A, McArthur D, Froelicher V (1989): Exercise induced ST depression in the diagnosis of coronary artery disease. A meta-analysis. Circulation 80:87–98.
- Gibbons LW, Mitchell TL, Wei M, Blair SN, Cooper KH (2000): Maximal exercise test as a predictor of risk for mortality from coronary heart disease in asymptomatic men. Am J Cardiol 86(1):53–58.
- Goldhammer S, Scherf D (1932): Elektrokardiographische Untersuchungen bei kranken mit angina pectoris ("ambulatorischer Typus"). Ztschr f klin Med 122:134.
- Grover SA, Dorais M, Paradis G, Fodor JG, Frohlich JJ, McPherson R, Coupal L, Zowall H (2000): Lipid screening to prevent coronary artery disease: a quantitative evaluation of evolving guidelines. CMAJ 163(10):1263–1269.
- Grover SA, Dorais M, Coupal L (2003): Improving the prediction of cardiovascular risk: interaction between LDL and HDL cholesterol. Epidemiology 14(3):315–320.

- Groves RM, Cialdini RB, Couper MP (1992): Understanding the decision to participate in a survey. Public Opinion Q 56:475–495.
- Hallman T, Burell G, Setterlind S, Oden A, Lisspers J (2001): Psychosocial risk factors for coronary heart disease, their importance compared with other risk factors and gender differences in sensitivity. J Cardiovasc Risk 8(1):39–49.
- Hamilton GA, Seidman RN (1993): A comparison of the recovery period for women and men after an acute myocardial infarction. Heart Lung 22(4):308–315.
- Hanlon P, McEwen J, Carey L, Gilmour H, Tannahill C, Tannahill A, Kelly M (1995). Health checks and coronary risk: further evidence from a randomised controlled trial. BMJ 311(7020):1609–1613.
- Hart CL, Smith GD, Hole DJ, Hawthorne VM (1999): Alcohol consumption and mortality from all causes, coronary heart disease, and stroke: results from a prospective cohort study of Scottish men with 21 years of follow up. BMJ 318(7200):1725–1729.
- Hayman LL, Reineke PR (2003): Preventing coronary heart disease: the implementation of healthy lifestyle strategies for children and adolescents. J Cardiovasc Nurs 18(4):294–301.
- Haynes SG, Feinleib M, Kannel WB (1980): The relationship of psychosocial factors to coronary heart disease in the Framingham Study. III. Eight-year incidence of coronary heart disease. Am J Epidemiol 111(1):37–58.
- Heinonen OP, Huttunen JK, Manninen V, Mänttäri M, Koskinen P, Tenkanen L, Frick MH (1994): The Helsinki Heart Study: coronary heart disease incidence during an extended follow-up. J Intern Med 235(1):41–49.
- Helin M, Heikkilä J (1994): Stabiili angina pectoris ja kivuton iskemia. Kirjassa: Kliininen kardiologia, toim. Frick H, Heikkilä J, Pyörälä K, Hämeenlinna.
- Hetemaa T, Keskimäki I, Manderbacka K, Leyland AH, Koskinen S (2003): How did the recent increase in the supply of coronary operations in Finland affect socioeconomic and gender equity in their use? J Epidemiol Community Health 57(3):178–185.
- Hill J, Timmis A (2002): Exercise tolerance testing. BMJ 324:1084–1087.
- Hippisley-Cox J, Fielding K, Pringle M (1998): Depression as a risk factor for ischaemic heart disease in men: population based case-control study. BMJ 316(7146):1714–1719.
- Hlatky MA, Pryor DB, Harrell FE Jr, Califf RM, Mark DB, Rosati RA (1984). Factors affecting sensitivity and specificity of exercise electrocardiography: multivariable analysis. Am J Med 77:64–71.
- http://193.209.217.5/in/internet/suomi.nsf/alias/laake206
- Hublin C, Kaprio J, Partinen M, Heikkilä K, Koskenvuo M (1996): Daytime sleepiness in an adult Finnish population. J Internal Med 239:417–423.
- Hublin C, Kaprio J, Partinen M, Koskenvuo M (2001): Insufficient sleep--a population-based study in adults. Sleep 24(4):392–400.
- Hulley SB, Newman TB, Grady D, Garber AM, Baron RB, Browner WS (1993): Should we be measuring blood cholesterol levels in young adults? JAMA 269(11):1416–1419.
- Hunt SM, McEwan T (1980): The development of a subjective health indicator. Soc of Health and Illness 2:231–246.
- Hämäläinen H, Luurila OJ, Kallio V, Hakkila J, Arstila M, Vuori I, Knuts LR (1989): Prognostic value of an exercise test one year after myocardial infarction. Ann Med 21(6):447–453.
- Hämäläinen H, Mäki J, Virta L, Keskimäki I, Mähönen M, Moltchanov V, Salomaa V (2004): Return to work after first myocardial infarction in 1991-1996 in Finland. Eur J Public Health 14(4):350–353.

- Insull W. The problem of compliance to cholesterol altering therapy (1997): J Intern Med 241(4):317–325.
- Jackson G (1999): Erectile dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. Int J Clin Pract 53(5):363–368.
- Jackson G, Betteridge J, Dean J, Eardley I, Hall R, Holdright D, Holmes S, Kirby M, Riley A, Sever P (2002): A systematic approach to erectile dysfunction in the cardiovascular patient: a Consensus Statement update 2002. Int J Clin Pract 45(9):663–671.
- Jackson R, Scragg R, Beaglehole R (1991): Alcohol consumption and risk of coronary heart disease. BMJ 303(6796):211–216.
- Jauhiainen K, Helin J, Länsimies E, Vanninen E (2001): Kliininen kuormituskoe sepelvaltimotaudin diagnostiikassa. Suom Lääkäril 49–50:5095–5099.
- Johannesson M, Jonsson B, Kjekshus J, Olsson AG, Pedersen TR, Wedel H (1997): Cost effectiveness of simvastatin treatment to lower cholesterol levels in patients with coronary heart disease. Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study Group. N Engl J Med 336(5):332–336.
- Jolly K, Bradley F, Sharp S, Smith H, Thompson S, Kinmonth AL, Mant D (1999): Randomised controlled trial of follow up care in general practice of patients with myocardial infarction and angina: final results of the Southampton heart integrated care project (SHIP). The SHIP Collaborative Group. BMJ 318(7185):706–711.
- Jones RC, Pothier CE, Blackstone EH, Lauer MS (2004): Prognostic importance of presenting symptoms in patients undergoing exercise testing for evaluation of known or suspected coronary disease. Am J Med 117(6):380–389.
- Jousilahti P, Vartiainen E, Pekkanen J, Tuomilehto J, Sundvall J, Puska P (1998): Serum Cholesterol Distribution and Coronary Heart Disease Risk: Observations and predictions among middle-aged population in Eastern Finland. Circulation 97:1087–1094.
- Järvi U. Harva sydänpotilas muuttaa elämäntapojaan (2001): Edes joka kymmenes ei pysty lopettamaan tupakointia infarktin jälkeen. Suomen Lääkäril 21-22(56):2368.
- Kannel WB (1996): Blood pressure as a cardiovascular risk factor: prevention and treatment. JAMA 275(20):1571–1576.
- Kannel WB (2002): The Framingham Study: historical insight on the impact of cardiovascular risk factors in men versus women. J Gend Specif Med 5(2):27–37.
- Kannel WB, Wilson PW, Nam BH, D'Agostino RB (2002): Risk stratification of obesity as a coronary risk factor. Am J Cardiol 90(7):697–701.
- Kaplan GA, Salonen JT (1990): Socioeconomic conditions in childhood and ischaemic heart disease during middle age. BMJ 301(6761):1121–1123.
- Kastarinen MJ, Nissinen AM, Vartiainen EA, Jousilahti PJ, Korhonen HJ, Puska PM, Tuomilehto J (2000): Blood pressure levels and obesity trends in hypertensive and normotensive Finnish population from 1982 to 1997. J Hypertens 18(3):255–262.
- Kastarinen M, Tuomilehto J, Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Nissinen A, Puska P (2002): Smoking trends in hypertensive and normotensive Finns during 1982-1997. J Hum Hypertens 16(5):299–303.
- Kaufman DW, Palmer JR, Rosenberg L, Shapiro S (1987): Cigar and pipe smoking and myocardial infarction in young men. BMJ (Clin Res Ed) 294(6583):1315–1316.
- Kauhanen J, Kaplan GA, Goldberg DD, Cohen RD, Lakka TA, Salonen JT (1997): Frequent hangovers and cardiovascular mortality in middle-aged men. Epidemiology 8(3):310–314.
- Keevil JG, Stein JH, McBride PE. Cardiovascular disease prevention (2002): Prim Care 29(3):667–696.

- Kela, Tutkimusosasto (2002): Vaikka terveys on kohentunut, sosiaaliturvan kustannukset kasvavat. Sosiaali- ja terveysturvan selosteita 23/2002. Terveys 2000 hankkeen tuloksiin toimittanut Timo Klaukka. Helsinki.
- Keskimäki I, Aalto A-M, Häkkinen U, Klaukka T, Manderbacka K, Reunanen A, Vehko T (2004): Sepelvaltimotauti ja eriarvoisuus. Kyselytutkimus sepelvaltimotautia sairastavien oireilusta, hoidosta ja elämäntavoista. Stakes, Raportteja 286.
- Kettunen R (2000): Kroonisen sepelvaltimotaudin diagnostiikka. Kirjassa: Heikkilä J, Huikuri H, Luomanmäki K, Nieminen MS, Peuhkurinen K, toim. Kardiologia. Jyväskylä: Kustannus Oy Duodecim, s. 405–415
- Khot UN, Khot MB, Bajzer CT, Sapp SK, Ohman EM, Brener SJ, Ellis SG, Lincoff AM, Topol EJ (2003): Prevalence of conventional risk factors in patients with coronary heart disease. JAMA 290(7):898–904.
- Klatsky AL, Armstrong MA, Friedman GD (1990): Risk of cardiovascular mortality in alcohol drinkers, ex-drinkers and nondrinkers. Am J Cardiol 66(17):1237–1242.
- Knudson MP (1987): The natural history of palpitations in a family practice. J Fam Pract;24(4):357–360.
- Koivisto VA, Stevens LK, Mattock M, Ebeling P, Muggeo M, Stephenson J, Idzior-Walus B (1996): Cardiovascular disease and its risk factors in IDDM in Europe. Diabetes Care 19(7)689–697.
- Korkeila K, Suominen S, Ojanlatva A, Ahvenainen J, Rautava P, Helenius H, Koskenvuo M (2001): Non-response and related factors in a nation-wide health survey. Eur Journal Epidemiol 17(11):991–999.
- Korkeila K (2005): Epidemiological studies on psychosocial risk and protective factors of illness. Ser. D, Tom. 646. Academic dissertation, Annales universitatis Turkuensis, Turku.
- Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J, Rose RJ, Kesäniemi A, Sarna S, Heikkilä K, Langinvainio H (1988): Hostility as a risk factor for mortality and ischemic heart disease in men. Psychosom Med 50(4):330–340.
- Koski K, Laippala P, Kivelä SL (2000): Predictors of coronary heart disease among children and adolescent in families with premature coronary heart diseases in central eastern Finland. Scand J Prim Health Care 18(3):170–176.
- Koskinen P, Mänttäri M, Manninen V, Huttunen JK, Heinonen OP, Frick MH (1992): Coronary heart disease incidence in NIDDM patients in the Helsinki Heart Study. Diabetes Care 15(7):820-825.
- Kottke TE (1985): Risk factor control in coronary heart disease. Who needs it? Postgrad Med 78(1):233–237, 240–241, 244–245.
- Krolewski AS, Kosinski EJ, Warram JH, Leland OS, Busick EJ, Asmal AC, Rand LI, Christlieb AR, Bradley RF, Kahn CR (1987): Magnitude and determinants of coronary artery disease in juvenile-onset, insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol 59:750–755.
- Kujala UM, Kaprio J, Sarna S, Koskenvuo M (1998): Relationship of leisuretime physical activity and mortality: the Finnish twin cohort. J Am Med Assoc 279:440–444.
- Lakka HM, Lakka TA, Tuomilehto J, Salonen JT (2002): Abdominal obesity is associated with increased risk of acute coronary events in men. Eur Heart J 23(9):687-689.
- Lakka HM, Laaksonen D, Lakka T, Niskanen L, Kumpusalo E, Tuomilehto J, Salonen T (2002): The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. JAMA 288(21):2709–2716.
- LaRosa JH, Larosa JC (2000): Enhancing drug compliance in lipid-lowering treatment. Arch Fam Med 9(10):1169–1175.

- Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso, M (1999): Poor glycemic control predicts coronary heart disease events in patients with type 1 diabetes without nephropathy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19(4):1014–1019.
- Lehto S, Koukkunen H, Hintikka J, Viinamäki H, Laakso M, Pyörälä K (2000): Depression after coronary heart disease events. Scand Cardiovasc J 34:580–583.
- Leineweber C, Kecklund G, Janszky I, Åkerstedt T, Orth-Gomer K (2003): Poor sleep increases the prospective risk for recurrent events in middle-aged women with coronary disease. The Stockholm Female Coronary Risk Study. J Psychosom Res 54(2):121–127.
- Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N (2000): Depression in patients with cardiac disease: a practical review. J Psychosom Res 48(4-5):317–320.
- Levi F, Lucchini F, Negri E, La Vecchia C (2002): Trends in mortality from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in Europe and other areas of the world. Heart 88(2):119–124.
- Lewis SJ, Sacks FM, Mitchell JS, East C, Glasser S, Kell S, Letterer R, Limacher M, Moye LA, Rouleau JL, Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E (1998): Effect of pravastatin on cardiovascular events in women after myocardial infarction: the cholesterol and recurrent events (CARE) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 32(1):140–146.
- Li N, Tuomilehto J, Dowse G, Virtala E, Zimmet P (1994): Prevalence of coronary heart disease indicated by electrocardiogram abnormalities and risk factors in developing countries. J Clin Epidemiol 47(6):599–611.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wilson PW, Larson MG, Leip E, Beiser A, D'Agostino RB, Cleeman JI, Levy D (2003): Lifetime risk of coronary heart disease by cholesterol levels at selected ages. Arch Intern Med 163(16):1966–1972.
- Länsimies E (1995): EKG- ja spirometriatutkimukset sekä kliiniset rasituskokeet 1994. Suom Lääkäril 50:3847–3849.
- Mallon L, Broman JE, Hetta J (2002): Sleep complaints predict coronary artery disease mortality in males: a 12-year follow-up study of a middle-aged Swedish population. J Intern Med 251(3):207–216.
- Manson JE, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Krolewski AS, Rosner B, Arky RA, Speizer FE, Hennekens CH (1991): A prospective study of maturity-onset diabetes mellitus and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in women. Arch Intern Med 151(6):1141–1147.
- Manson JE, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Hunter DJ, Hankinson SE, Hennekens CH, Speizer FE (1995): Body weight and mortality among women. N Engl J Med 333(11):677–685.
- Mark DB, Shaw L, Harrell FE Jr, Hlatky MA, Lee KL, Bengtson JR, McCants CB, Califf RM, Pryor DB (1991): Prognostic value of a treadmill exercise score in outpatients with suspected coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 325(12):849–853.
- Mayer O Jr, Simon J, Heidrich J, Cokkinos DV, De Bacquer D; EUROASPIRE II Study Group (2004): Educational level and risk profile of cardiac patients in the EUROASPIRE II substudy. J Epidemiol Community Health 58(1):47–52.
- Mayou R, Sprigings D, Birkhead J, Price J (2003): Characteristics of patients presenting to a cardiac clinic with palpitation. QJM 96(2):115–123.
- McKhann GM, Borowicz LM, Goldsborough MA, Enger C, Selnes OA (1997): Depression and cognitive decline after coronary artery bypass grafting. Lancet 349(9061):1282–1284.
- McLeod AL, Brooks L, Taylor V, Currie PF, Dewhurst NG (2004): Secondary prevention for coronary artery disease. Q J Med 97(3):127–131.
- Mickley H (2002): Incidence and treatment of sexual dysfunction in heart disease. Ugeskr Laeger 164(41):4760–4764.
- Millar JA, Lever AF (2000): Implications of pulse pressure as a predictor of cardiac risk in patients with hypertension. Hypertension 36(5):907–911.

- Milner KA, Funk M, Richards S, Wilmes RM, Vaccarino V, Krumholz HM (1999): Gender differences in symptom presentation associated with coronary heart disease. Am J Cardiol 84(4):396–399.
- Mittleman MA, Maclure M, Sherwood JB, Mulry RP, Tofler GH, Jacobs SC, Friedman R, Benson H, Muller JE (1995): Triggering of acute myocardial infarction onset by episodes of anger. Circulation 92:1720–1725.
- Moher M, Schofield T, Weston S, Fullard E (1997): Managing established coronary heart disease. BMJ 315(7100):69–70.
- Montague T, Tsuyuki R, Burton J, Williams R, Dzavik V, Teo K (1994): Prevention and regression of coronary atherosclerosis. Is it safe and efficacious therapy? Chest 105(3):718–726.
- Mozaffarian D, Bryson CL, Spertus JA, McDonell MB, Fihn SD (2003): Anginal symptoms consistently predict total mortality among outpatients with coronary artery disease. Am Heart J 146(6):1015–1022.
- Murchie P, Campbell NC, Ritchie LD, Simpson JA, Thain J (2003): Secondary prevention clinics for coronary heart disease: four year follow up of a randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMJ 326(7380):84–89.
- Murray CJ, Lopez AD (1997): Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 349(9061):1269–1276.
- Myers J, Froelicher VF (1993): Exercise testing. Procedures and implementation. Cardiol Clin 11(2):199–213.
- Möller J, Ahlbom A, Hulting J, Diderichsen F, de Faire U, Reuterwald C, Hallqvist J (2001): Sexual activity as a trigger of myocardial infarction. A case-crossover analysis in the Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Programme (SHEEP). Heart 86(4):387–390.
- Natarajan S, Glick H, Criqui M, Horowitz D, Lipsitz SR, Kinosian B (2003): Cholesterol measures to identify and treat individuals at risk for coronary heart disease. Am J Prev Med 25(1):50–57.
- Nilsson S, Scheike M, Engblom D, Larsson L G, Mölstad S, Åkerlind I, Örtoft K, Nylander E (2003): Chest pain and ischaemic heart disease in primary health care. Br J Gen Pract 53(5):378–382.
- Ojanlatva A, Helenius H, Rautava P, Ahvenainen J, Koskenvuo M (2003): Importance of and satisfaction with sex life in a large Finnish population. Sex Roles 48(11-12):543–553.
- Ornish D, Brown SE, Scherwitz LW, Billings JH, Armstrong WT, Ports TA, McLanahan SM, Kirkeeide RL, Brand RJ, Gould KL (1990): Can lifestyle changes reverse coronary heart disease? The Lifestyle Heart Trial. Lancet 336(8708):624–626.
- Pajunen P, Pääkkönen R, Juolevi A, Hämäläinen H, Keskimäki I, Laatikainen T, Moltchanov V, Niemi M, Rintanen H, Salomaa V (2004): Trends in fatal and nonfatal coronary heart disease events in Finland during 1991-2001. Scand Cardiovasc J 38(6):340–344.
- Papadopoulos C, Beaument C, Shelley SI, Larrimore P (1983): Myocardial infarction and sexual activity of the female patient. Arch Intern Med 143:1528–1530.
- Partinen M, Putkonen PT, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Hilakivi I (1982): Sleep disorders in relation to coronary heart disease. Acta Med Scand Suppl 660:69–83.
- Pedersen TR, Wilhelmsen L, Faergeman O, Strandberg TE, Thorgeirsson G, Troedsson L, Kristianson J, Berg K, Cook TJ, Haghfelt T, Kjekshus J, Miettinen T, Olsson AG, Pyörälä K, Wedel H (2000): Follow-up study of patients randomized in the Scandinavian simvastatin survival study (4S) of cholesterol lowering. Am J Cardiol 86(3):257–262.

- Pekkanen J, Linn S, Heiss G, Suchindran CM, Leon A, Rifkind BM, Tyroler HA (1990): Ten-year mortality from cardiovascular disease in relation to cholesterol level among men with and without preexisting cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 322(24):1700–1707.
- Pignone MP, Phillips CJ, Atkins D, Teutsch SM, Mulrow CD, Lohr KN (2001): Screening and treating adults for lipid disorders. Am J Prev Med 20(3 Suppl):77–89.
- Pilote L, Pashkow F, Thomas JD, Snader CE, Harvey SA, Marwick TH, Lauer MS (1998): Clinical yield and cost of exercise treadmill testing to screen for coronary artery disease in asymptomatic adults. Am J Cardiol 81(2):219–224.
- Pratt CM, Francis MJ, Divine GW, Young JB (1989): Exercise testing in women with chest pain. Are there additional exercise characteristics that predict true positive results? Chest 95(1):139–144.
- Puska P, Vartiainen E, Tuomilehto J, Salomaa V, Nissinen A (1998): Changes in premature deaths in Finland: successful long-term prevention of cardiovascular diseases. Bull World Health Organ 76(4):419–425.
- Pyörälä K, Salonen JT, Valkonen T (1985): Trends in coronary heart disease mortality and morbidity and related factors in Finland. Cardiology 72(1–2):35–51.
- Pyörälä K, Laakso M, Uusitupa M (1987): Diabetes and atherosclerosis: an epidemiologic view. Diabetes Metab Rev 3:463–524.
- Rabkin SW, Mathewson FA, Hsu PH (1977): Relation of body weight to development of ischemic heart disease in a cohort of young North American men after a 26 year observation period: the Manitoba Study. Am J Cardiol 39(3):452–458.
- Remes J, Reunanen A, Aromaa A, Pyörälä K (1992): Incidence of heart failure in eastern Finland: a population based surveillance study. Eur Heart J 13(5):588–593.
- Reunanen A, Suhonen O, Aromaa A, Knekt P, Pyörälä K (1985): Incidence of different manifestations of coronary heart disease in middle-aged Finnish men and women. Acta Med Scand 218(1):19–26.
- Reunanen A, Kattainen A, Jauhiainen M, Jula A, Kaaja R, Kesäniemi A, Kukkonen-Harjula K, Kähönen M, Laakso M, Luoto R, Majahalme S, Mykkänen L, Nieminen MS, Rapola J, Salomaa V, Taskinen M-R, Tuomilehto J, Varpula M, Vartiainen E (2002). Verenkiertoelinten sairaudet ja diabetes. Kirjassa: Terveys ja toimintakyky Suomessa, Terveys 2000 -tutkimuksen perustulokset. Kansanterveyslaitoksen julkaisuja B3/2002, Helsinki.
- Rexrode K, Carey V, Hennekens C, Walters E, Colditz G, Stampfer M, Willett W, Manson J(1998): Abdominal Adiposity and Coronary Heart Disease in Women. JAMA 280(21):1843–1848.
- Rifkin RD, Hood WB Jr (1977): Bayesian analysis of electrocardiographic exercise stress testing. N Engl J Med 297(13):681–686.
- Rodriguez BL, Lau N, Burchfiel CM, Abbott RD, Sharp DS, Yano K, Curb JD (1999): Glucose intolerance and 23-year risk of coronary heart disease and total mortality: the Honolulu Heart Program. Diabetes Care 22:1262–1265.
- Rose GA, Blackburn H (1968): Cardiovascular Survey Methods. WHO Monograph Series Number 56, W.H.O. Geneva.
- Rosenberg L, Kaufman DW, Helmrich SP, Miller DR, Stolley PD, Shapiro S (1985): Myocardial infarction and cigarette smoking in women younger than 50 years of age. JAMA 253(20):2965–2969.
- Rosenberg L, Kaufman DW, Helmrich SP, Shapiro S (1985): The risk of myocardial infarction after quitting smoking in men under 55 years of age. N Engl J Med 313(24):1511–1514.
- Rosengren A, Wilhelmsen L, Lappas G, Johansson S (2003): Body mass index, coronary heart disease and stroke in Swedish women. A prospective 19-year follow-up in the BEDA study. J Cardiovasc Risk 10(6):443–450.

- Rudisch B, Nemeroff CB (2003): Epidemiology of comorbid coronary artery disease and depression. Biol Psychiatry 54(3):227–240.
- Saaristo T, Lahtela J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S (2000): Sepelvaltimotauti- potilaiden lipidihäiriöiden hoidon toteutuminen. Suomen Lääkäril 21(55):2291–2296.
- Salomaa V, Ketonen M, Koukkunen H, Immonen-Räihä P, Jerkkola T, Karja-Koskenkari P, Mähönen M, Niemelä M, Kuulasmaa K, Palomäki P, Arstila M, Vuorenmaa T, Lehtonen A, Lehto S, Miettinen H, Torppa J, Tuomilehto J, Kesäniemi YA, Pyörälä K (2003): Trends in coronary events in Finland during 1983-1997. The FINAMI study. Eur Heart J 24(4):311–319.
- Salomaa V, Ketonen M, Koukkunen H, Immonen-Räihä P, Jerkkola T, Karja-Koskenkari P, Mähönen M, Niemelä M, Kuulasmaa K, Palomäki P, Mustonen J. Arstila M, Vuorenmaa T, Lehtonen A, Lehto S, Miettinen H, Torppa J, Tuomilehto J, Kesäniemi YA, Pyörälä K (2003): Decline in out-of-hospital coronary heart disease deaths has contributed the main part to the overall decline in coronary heart disease mortality rates among persons 35 to 64 years of age in Finland: the FINAMI study. Circulation 108(6):691–696.
- Salomaa V, Laatikainen T, Tapanainen H, Jousilahti P, Vartiainen E (2003): Sepelvaltimotaudin riskitekijöiden sosioekonomiset erot. Suomen Lääkäril 33(58):3187–3191.
- Sarason IG, Sarason BR, Shearin EN, Pierce GR (1987): A brief measure of social support: Practical, and theoretical implications. J Soc Pers Relat 4:497–510.
- Saydah SH, Miret M, Sung J, Varas C, Gause D, Brancati FL (2001): Postchallenge hyperglycemia and mortality in a national sample of U.S. adults. Diabetes Care 24(8):1397–1402.
- Schwartz S, McDowell Anderson W, Cole SR, Cornoni-Huntley J, Hays JC, Blazer D (1999): Insomnia and heart disease, A review of epidemiologic studies. J Psychosom Res 47(4):313–333.
- Seftel AD, Sun P, Swindle R (2004): The prevalence of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes mellitus and depression in men with erectile dysfunction. J Urol 171:2341–2345.
- Shaper AG, Pocock SJ, Walker M, Phillips AN, Whitehead TP, Macfarlane PW (1985): Risk factors for ischaemic heart disease: the prospective phase of the British Regional Heart Study. J Epidemiol Community Health 39:197–209.
- Shaper AG, Wannamethee SG (2000): Alcohol intake and mortality in middle aged men with diagnosed coronary heart disease. Heart 83(4):394-399.
- Sheikh K, Mattingly S (1981): Investigating non-response bias in mail surveys. J Epidemiol Community Health 35(4):293–296.
- Shepherd J (1997): Tomorrow's world: atherosclerosis in the year 2000. Neth J Med 50(5):221–227.
- Shiri R, Koskimäki J, Hakama M, Häkkinen J, Tammela TL, Huhtala H, Auvinen A (2003): Effect of chronic diseases on incidence of erectile dysfunction. Urology 62(6):1097–1102.
- Siegrist J (1987): Impaired quality of life as a risk factor in cardiovascular disease. J Chronic Dis 40(6):571–578.
- Sigurdsson EL, Jonsson JS, Thorgeirsson G (2002): Medical treatment and secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in general practice in Iceland. Scand J Prim Health Care 20(1):10–15.
- Simes RJ, Marschner IC, Hunt D, Colquhoun D, Sullivan D, Stewart RA, Hague W, Keech A, Thompson P, White H, Shaw J, Tonkin A; LIPID Study Investigators (2002): Relationship between lipid levels and clinical outcomes in the Long-term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischemic Disease (LIPID) Trial: to what extent is the reduction in coronary events with pravastatin explained by on-study lipid levels? Circulation 105(10):1162–1169.

- Smith GD, Hart C, Blane D, Gillis C, Hawthorne V (1997): Lifetime socioeconomic position and mortality: prospective observational study. BMJ 314(7080):547–552.
- Snell-Bergeon JK, Hokanson JE, Jensen L, MacKenzie T, Kinney G, Dabelea D, Eckel RH, Ehrlich J, Garg S, Rewers M (2003): Progression of coronary artery calcification in type 1 diabetes: the importance of glycemic control. Diabetes Care 26(10):2923–2928.
- Speel TG, van Langen H, Meuleman EJ (2003): The risk of coronary heart disease in men with erectile dysfunction. Eur Urol 44(3):366–371.
- Spertus JA, Winder JA, Dewhurst TA, Deyo RA, Prodzinski J,McDonell M, Fihn SD (1995): Development and evaluation of the Seattle Angina questionnaire: A new functional status measure for coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 25:333–341.
- Stamler J, Stamler R, Neaton JD, Wentworth D, Daviglus ML, Garside D, Dyer AR, Liu K, Greenland P (1999): Low risk-factor profile and long-term cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality and life expectancy: findings for 5 large cohorts of young adult and middle-aged men and women. JAMA 282(21):2068–2070.
- Stansfeld SA, Fuhrer R, Shipley MJ, Marmot MG (2002): Psychological distress as a risk factor for coronary heart disease in the Whitehall II Study. Int J Epidemiol 31(1):248v255.
- Statistics Finland (2001): Causes of death 2001.
- Stokes ME, Davis CS, Koch GG (2000): Categorical Data Analysis Using the SAS® System, Second Edition, Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Strandberg TE, Lehto S, Pyörälä K, Kesäniemi A, Oksa H (1997): Cholesterol lowering after participation in the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) in Finland. Eur Heart J 18(11):1725–1727.
- Suhonen O, Reunanen A, Knekt P, Aromaa A (1988): Risk factors for sudden and non-sudden coronary death. Acta Med Scand 233(1):19–25.
- Summerskill WS, Pope C (2002): 'I saw the panic rise in her eyes, and evidence-based medicine went out of the door.' An exploratory qualitative study of the barriers to secondary prevention in the management of coronary heart disease. Fam Pract 19(6):605–610.
- Summerton N, Mann S, Rigby A, Petkar S, Dhawan J (2001): New-onset palpitations in general practice: assessing the discriminant value of items within the clinical history. Fam Pract 18(4):383–392.
- Sung JC, Nichol MB, Venturini F, Bailey KL, McCombs JS, Cody M (1998): Factors affecting patient compliance with antihyperlipidemic medications in an HMO population. Am J Manag Care 4(10):1421–1430.
- Söderman E, Lisspers J, Sundin Ö (2003): Depression as a predictor of return to work in patients with coronary artery disease. Soc Sci Med 56(1):193–202.
- Tennant C, McLean L (2001): The impact of emotions on coronary heart disease risk. J Cardiovasc Risk 8(3):175–183.
- The Social Insurance Institution (2003). Erityiskorvattaviin lääkkeisiin oikeuttavat sairaudet ja niiden kustannukset korvauksia saanutta kohti vuonna 2002.
- The Vestfold Heartcare Study Group (2003): Influence on lifestyle measures and five-year coronary risk by a comprehensive lifestyle intervention programme in patients with coronary heart disease. J Cardiovasc Risk 10(6):429–437.
- The World Health Report 1999—making a difference (1999). Report of the Director General. Geneva: WHO.
- Timberlake N, Klinger L, Smith P, Venn G, Treasure T, Harrison M, Newman SP (1997): Incidence and patterns of depression following coronary artery bypass graft surgery. J Psychosom Res 43(2):197–207.

- Timmins F, Kaliszer M (2003): Information needs of myocardial infarction patients. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2(1):57–65.
- Tonstad S, Hjermann I (2003): A high risk score for coronary heart disease is associated with the metabolic syndrome in 40-year-old men and women. J Cardiovasc Risk 10(2):129–135.
- Tuominen P, Tuominen A-L, Rintamäki T, Lammi U-K (1998): Sepelvaltimotautipotilaiden ruokavaliointerventio ja lipidilääkitys Kangasalan seudun terveyskeskuksessa. Suomen Lääkäril 26(53):2787–2791.
- Uemura K, Pisa Z (1988): Trends in cardiovascular disease mortality in industrialised countries since 1950. World Health Stat Q 41(3–4):155–178.
- Valkamo M, Hintikka J, Niskanen L, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Honkalampi K, Viinamäki H (2001): Depression and associated factors in coronary heart disease. Scand Cardiovasc J 35(4):259–263.
- Valkamo M, Koivumaa-Honkanen HT, Hintikka J, Niskanen L, Honkalampi K, Viinamäki H (2003): Life satisfaction in patients with chest pain subsequently diagnosed as coronary heart disease--connection through depressive symptoms? Qual Life Res 12(8):1099–1105.
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Metsemakers JF, Knottnerus JA (1998): Morbidity in responders and non-responders in a register-based population survey. Fam Pract 15(3):261–263.
- van Domburg RT, Meeter K, van Berkel DF, Veldkamp RF, van Herwerden LA, Bogers AJ (2000). Smoking cessation reduces mortality after coronary artery bypass surgery: a 20-year follow-up study. J Am Coll Cardiol 36(3):878–883.
- Varjonen J, Romanov K, Kaprio J, Heikkilä K, Koskenvuo M (1997): Self-rated depression in 12 063 middle-aged adults. Nord J Psychiat 51:331–338.
- Vartiainen E, Puska P, Pekkanen J, Tuomilehto J, Jousilahti P (1994): Changes in risk factors explain changes in mortality from ischaemic heart disease in Finland. BMJ 309(6946):23–27.
- Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Alfthan G, Sundvall J, Pietinen P, Puska P (2000): Cardiovascular risk factor changes in Finland, 1972-1997. Int J Epidemiol 29(1):49–56.
- Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Tapanainen H, Salomaa V, Jousilahti P, Sundvall J, Salminen M, Männistö S, Valsta L (2003): Suomalaisten sydän- ja verisuonitautien riskitekijät FINRISKI-tutkimuksessa 1982-2002. Suomen Lääkäril 58(41):4099–4106.
- Vehviläinen A, Hartikainen J, Niskanen L, Vohlonen I (2004): Työikäisten sepelvaltimotautipotilaiden hoidon kokonaiskustannukset. Suomen Lääkäril 59(3):181–186.
- Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG (1997). Lifelong teetotallers, ex-drinkers and drinkers: mortality and the incidence of major coronary heart disease events in middle-aged British men. Int J Epidemiol 26(3):523–531.
- Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG (2002). Taking up regular drinking in middle age: effect on major coronary heart disease events and mortality. Heart 87(1):32–36.
- Ware JE, Donald Sherbourne C (1992): The MOS 36-item Short-Form Health survey (SF-36). Medical Care 30:473–483.
- Weber BE, Kapoor WN (1996). Evaluation and outcomes of patients with palpitations. Am J Med 100(2):138–148.
- Wei L, Wang J, Thompson P, Wong S, Struthers AD, MacDonald TM (2002). Adherence to statin treatment and readmission of patients after myocardial infarction: a six year follow up study. Heart 88(3):229–233.
- Wei M, Macera CA, Davis DR, Hornung CA, Nankin HR, Blair SN (1994). Total cholesterol and high density lipoprotein cholesterol as important predictors of erectile dysfunction. Am J Epidemiol 140(10):930–937.

- Westin L, Carlsson R, Israelsson B, Willenheimer R, Cline C, McNeil TF (1997): J Intern Med 242(3):239–247.
- White RD, Evans CH (2001). Performing the exercise test. Prim Care 28(1):29–53.
- Wiggers LC, Smets EM, de Haes JC, Peters RJ, Legemate DA (2003). Smoking cessation interventions in cardiovascular patients. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 26(5):467–475.
- Wilhelmsson C, Vedin JA, Elmfeldt D, Tibblin G, Wilhelmsen L (1975). Smoking and myocardial infarction. Lancet 1(7904):415–420.
- Willett WC, Green A, Stampfer MJ, Speizer FE, Colditz GA, Rosner B, Monson RR, Stason W, Hennekens CH (1987): Relative and absolute excess risks of coronary heart disease among women who smoke cigarettes. N Engl J Med 317(21):1303–1309.
- Williams JE, Paton CC, Siegler IC, Eigenbrodt ML, Nieto FJ, Tyroler HA (2000). Anger proneness predicts coronary heart disease risk: prospective analysis from the atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) study. Circulation 101(17):2034–2039.
- Wilson PW, Garrison RJ, Castelli WP, Feinleib M, McNamara PM, Kannel WB (1980): Prevalence of coronary heart disease in the Framingham Offspring Study: role of lipoprotein cholesterol. Am J Cardiol 46(4):649–654.
- Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB, Sullivan L, Parise H, Kannel WB (2002): Overweight and obesity as determinants of cardiovascular risk: the Framingham experience. Arch Intern Med 162(16):1867–1872.
- Wong ND, Pio JR, Franklin SS, L'Italien GJ, Kamath TV, Williams GR (2003): Preventing coronary events by optimal control of blood pressure and lipids in patients with the metabolic syndrome. Am J Cardiol 91(12):1421–1426.
- Wong ND, Thakral G, Franklin SS, L'Italien GJ, Jacobs MJ, Whyte JL, Lapuerta P (2003): Preventing heart disease by controlling hypertension: impact of hypertensive subtype, stage, age, and sex. Am Heart J 145(5):888–895.
- Wright DJ, Grayson AD, Jackson M, Dainty C (2003): The reality of treating dyslipidaemia in patients with coronary heart disease: a primary care survey. Int J Clin Pract 57(6):488–491.
- Yikona JI, Wallis EJ, Ramsay LE, Jackson PR (2002): Coronary and cardiovascular risk estimation in uncomplicated mild hypertension. A comparison of risk assessment methods. J Hypertens 20(11):2173–2182.
- Younis LT, Chaitman BR (1993): The prognostic value of exercise testing. Cardiol Clin 11(2):229–240.
- Yleislääkärin käsikirja (1998): S. 79–83. Duodecim, Jyväskylä.
- Yki-Järvinen H (2000): Management of type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular risk: lessons from intervention trials. Drugs 60(5):975–983.
- Ziegelstein RC, Fauerbach JA, Stevens SS, Romanelli J, Richter DP, Bush DE (2000): Patients with depression are less likely to follow recommendations to reduce cardiac risk during recovery from a myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med 160(12):1818–1823.
- Zimetbaum P, Josephson ME. Evaluation of patients with palpitations (1998): N Engl J Med 338(19):1369–1373.

# 14 APPENDICES

Translated by the author

## 14.1 I Kliinisiä rasituskokeita koskevat tiedot

### Information concerning the exercise tests

#### Henkilötiedot Personal data

	1.	Syntymäaika	date	of	birt
--	----	-------------	------	----	------

- 2. Ikä age
- 3. Sukupuoli gender
  - 1. Mies man
  - 2. Nainen woman
- 4. Siviilisääty marital status
  - 1. Naimaton single
  - 2. Avoliitossa live together
  - 3. Avioliitossa married
  - 4. Leski widow
  - 5. Eronnut divorced
- 5. Ammatti occupation
- 6. Eläkkeellä retired
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 7. Kotikunta place of residence
  - 1. Kangasala
  - 2. Pälkäne
  - 3. Luopioinen
  - 4. Sahalahti
  - 5. Kuhmalahti

#### Päivämäärät Dates

- 8. Lähete tehty referral done
- 9. Rasituskoe tehty exercise test done
- 10. Aiemmat rasituskokeet previous exercise tests

#### Anamneesi Anamnesis

11. Todettu sepelvaltimotauti diagnosed CHD 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, vuonna: yes, in the year: 12. Sairastettu sydäninfarkti myocardial infarction 1. Ei no 2. Kyllä, vuonna: *yes, in the year:* 13. Verenpainetauti hypertension 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, vuonna: yes, in the year: 14. Sokeritauti diabetes 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, vuonna: *yes, in the year:* 15. Rasitusrintakipuja chest pain during distress 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä ves 16. Hengenahdistusta dyspnea 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä ves 17. Muuta something else 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, mitä: yes, what: 18. Tupakointi *smoking* 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, määrä: yes, amount: Lääkitys Medication 19. Beetasalpaaja beta blocker 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, lääke ja annos: yes, medicine and dose: 20. Kalsiumsalpaaja calcium antagonist 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, lääke ja annos: yes, medicine and dose: 21. Pitkävaikutteinen nitraatti long-acting nitrate 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, lääke ja annos: ves, medicine and dose: 22. Digoksiini digoxin 1. Ei *no* 2. Kyllä, lääke ja annos: yes, medicine and dose:

23.

Muuta something else

1. Ei *no* 

2. Kyllä, lääke ja annos: yes, medicine and dose:

### Potilaan koko Size of the patient

- 24. Pituus *height*
- 25. Paino weight
- 26. Body-mass index BMI

# Laboratoriokokeet (ennen koetta) Laboratory findings (before the test)

- 27. Totaali kolesteroli *Total cholesterol*
- 28. HDL-kolesteroli HDL cholesterol
- 29. Triglyseridit triglycerides
- 30. LDL-kolesteroli LDL cholesterol
- 31. Hemoglobiini hemoglobin
- 32. Lepo-EKG ECG at rest
  - 1. Normaali normal
  - 2. Poikkeava, miten: abnormal, how:

# Lähettävän lääkärin kysymyksenasettelu Question setting of the referring doctor

- 33. Sepelvaltimotauti? *CHD*?
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 34. Rytmihäiriöt? cardiac arrhythmia?
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 35. Rasitusastma? *asthma during physical distress?* 
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 36. Muut rintakivut? *other chest pains?* 
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä ves
- 37. Suorituskyky? *performance?* 
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä ves
- 38. Muuta something else
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä, mitä: yes, what:
- 39. Työkyvyn arviointi? estimation of working ability?
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes

#### Lääkäreitä koskevat tiedot Information concerning doctors

- 40. Lähettävä lääkäri referring doctor
- 41. Rasituskokeen suorittaja doctor performing the exercise test

# Rasituskokeeseen liittyvät tiedot *Information concerning the* exercise test

- 42. Rasituskoe onnistui the exercise test succeeded
  - 1. Kyllä yes
  - 2. Ei, miksi? no, why not?
- 43. Saavutettu maksimisyke *maximal heart rate achieved*
- 44. Ikää vastaava maksimisyke maximal heart rate responding age
- 45. Maksimi ST-lasku (mm ja kytkentä) *maximal ST-depression (mm and lead)*
- 46. ST-vajoaman suunta direction of the ST-depression
  - 1. Nopeasti ylös viettävä rapidly ascending
  - 2. Hitaasti ylös viettävä slowly ascending
  - 3. Vaakasuora horizontal
  - 4. Alas viettävä descending
- 47. Rintakipuja kokeen aikana *chest pain during the test* 
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 48. Suorituskyky *performance* 
  - 1. Normaali normal
  - 2. Lievästi alentunut slightly decreased
  - 3. Kohtalaisesti alentunut moderately decreased
  - 4. Voimakkaasti alentunut severely decreased
- 49. Muuta something else
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä, mitä: yes, what:
- 50. Löydöksen luokittelu (suorittava lääkäri) classification of the finding (the performing doctor)
  - 1. Positiivinen positive
  - 2. Epävarma *equivocal*
  - 3. Negatiivinen negative
  - 4. Muuta something else

- 51. Lähettävän lääkärin hoidollinen päätös *treatment decision of the referring doctor* 
  - 1. Lähete TaYS referral to Tampere University Hospital
  - 2. Lähete konsultaatioon, mihin: referral to consultation, where:
  - 3. Lääkehoito, mikä: medicine, what:
  - 4. Seuranta follow-up
  - 5. Ei hoitoa *no treatment*
  - 6. Muuta, mitä: *something else, what:*
- 52. Kokeesta saatu hyöty benefit gained by the test
  - 1. Sepelvaltimoepäilytauti vahvistui suspicion of CHD was strengthened
  - 2. Sepelvaltimotauti poissuljettiin *CHD was ruled out*
  - 3. Epävarma löydös sepelvaltimotaudin suhteen *uncertain finging concerning CHD*
  - 4. Muuta, mitä: something else, what:
  - 5. Koe epäonnistui the test failed

#### Kahden vuoden seuranta-aika Two years' follow-up

- 53. Elossa living
  - 1. Kyllä yes
  - 2. Ei, kuolinsyy? no, cause of death?
- 54. Asuu edelleen paikkakunnalla still living in the area
  - 1. Kyllä yes
  - 2. Ei *no*
- 55. Seuranta-aikana uusi rasituskoe *new exercise test during follow-up* 
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 56. Koronaariangiografia coronary angiography
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä ves
- 57. Ohitusleikkaus *by-pass operation* 
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes
- 58. Sepelvaltimotautidiagnoosi seuranta-ajan jälkeen diagnosis of CHD after the follow-up period
  - 1. Ei *no*
  - 2. Kyllä yes

14.2 II HeSSup questionnaire (in Finnish)